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Chairman of the Board
of Directors and 
CEO letter

Dear shareholders,

those who expected that 2007 would be less turbulent for the oil and refinery 
industry than preceeding years have probably been disappointed. The previous year 
again rewrote nominal records when the oil price – with the endurance of a champion 
- reached the level of USD 100 per barrel. Prices of key oil products, gasoline and 
diesel likewise followed the oil price trends and their prices on international 
commodity markets increased by an average of 13% and 11% respectively during 
the year. 

Even though analysts globally consider the previous year in the industry to have been  
a good one, it was again confirmed that the real competitive advantage of refineries 
lies in state-of-the-art technologies, an advantageous structure of production in 
favour of valuable light products, efficient crude oil conversion to these high value 
added products, and operational reliability. These are factors that Slovnaft has at its 
disposal thanks to the sophisticated investment strategy of previous years, and the 
successful integration into the international MOL Group. Full use is made of these 
factors in favour of shareholder value growth. On the following pages we would like 
to summarise the main driving forces of the Slovnaft Group’s performance in 2007.

Marián Jusko

Chairman of the Board of Directors

oszkár világi

Chief Executive Officer

Record crude oil processing
In 2007, Slovnaft continued the maximisation of production 

capacity utilisation when crude oil processing reached the 

record level of almost 6 million tons. Due to this higher 

crude oil processing and the greater use of cracking and 

hydrogenation capacities, gasoline production increased 

by 166 thousand tons and motor diesel by 251 thousand 

tons. In 2007, the Company exclusively produced diesel 

with low sulphur content, out of which almost 60% was 

motor diesel with the addition of the biocomponent 

FAME (Fatty Acid Methyl Ester) compared to 36% in 

2006. In 2007, the Company produced biogasoline with 

the addition of ETBE (ethyl tertiary butyl ether) in the 

volume of 1,617 thousand tons, while in 2006 this product 

represented only 157 thousand tons. 

Thanks to the record oil processing and high demand, 

Slovnaft increased the volume of sales of refinery 

products on export markets, despite high initial values 

from previous years, year-on-year by 5.7%, and on the 

domestic market by 4.7%. Export therefore still plays  

the key role for the Slovnaft Group along with the reliable 

and stable supply of the domestic market. In total, 

Slovnaft sold 280 thousand tons of refinery products 

more than in 2006, contributing SKK 3.9 billion to the 

Slovnaft Group results. On the other hand, net revenues 

from sales of refinery products dropped year-on-year by 

4.8 %, mainly due to the impact of the Slovak currency 

exchange rate against the EUR and USD currencies.

Retail increased efficiency 
Despite the year-on-year lower average number of 

filling stations in 2007 by 27, the total sales of fuel at 

Slovnaft filling stations remained almost at the previous 

year’s level. The efficiency of sales, however, increased 

significantly with the average volume of sales per 

station increasing by 13% compared to 2006. The 

structure of fuel sales at Slovnaft filling stations again 

confirmed the increasing demand for motor diesel.  

As at year-end, Slovnaft operated 209 filling stations.

Record petrochemistry 
Since 1 July 2006 the petrochemical activities of 

Slovnaft were transferred to a subsidiary in the 100% 

ownership of Slovnaft – Slovnaft Petrochemicals, s.r.o. 

The first year of the independent petrochemistry has 

already been record-breaking. In 2007, year-on-year 

production volumes increased significantly – monomers 

by 14% and polymers by 13 %, which thereby reached 

a historically high level. Sales of plastics, per volume, 

increased by more than 10% to 427 thousand tons, 

which confirms that petrochemistry plays an important 

role in the Slovnaft Group. Its share of the total  

of Slovnaft Group revenues hence reached one fifth.

Optimal utilisation of production capacities
In addition to the record volume of crude oil processing, 

which together with high demand allowed for a 

significant increase in produced and sold product 

volumes, an important role in terms of the Slovnaft 

Group results was played by high operational  

reliability, the stable operation of production plants,  

and the optimal utilisation of production capacities.  

The sum of these factors significantly contributed 

to the year-on-year increase of the Slovnaft Group 

operating profit to SKK 9.4 billion.

Slovnaft enters prospective power industry 
As part of the strategic partnership of the MOL Group  

and the Czech power group ČEZ, power generation at 

the Slovnaft site will increase to 960 MW from 2013.  

The project, in which Slovnaft will play an important 

role, in addition to the modernisation of the existing 

power plant and its capacity increase to 160 MW, also 

includes the construction of a new state-of-the-art 

combined gas-steam cycle with an installed capacity  

of 800 MW. The project will significantly contribute to 

the increased sureness of energy supplies not only for 

Slovnaft, but also for the Slovak Republic; the reduction 

of the electricity deficit in the country; and also will 

provide important environmental benefits. The modern 

heating plant and the gas-steam cycle will cover the 

refinery’s power demand, allowing for better energy 

cost control and thereby contribute to the further 

increase of the refinery complexity. In parallel, this 

will allow Slovnaft to enter the electricity market with 

additional growth opportunities. 

We believe that this strategic step, together with the 

optimal utilisation of production capacities, the growth 

of the production and sales of high quality refinery and 

petrochemical products, efficient retail operations, and 

a continued focus on the increased efficiency of all 

key processes, will ensure value-creating growth for 

shareholders into the future.



Our activity and results
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Summary 

In 2007 Slovnaft processed almost 6.0 million tons of crude oil originating from  
the Russian Federation and transported through the Druzhba crude oil pipeline.  
This volume represents the highest level since 1990 and was achieved by the  
optimal utilisation of production units and by very good operational reliability.

Refinery activities

Motor fuels produced by the Company have historically both fully and in advance 
met European Union qualitative parameters. In 2007, the whole production of motor 
diesel was of low sulphur quality, of which 80% was diesel fuel with ultra low  
sulphur content (below 10 ppm).

The production of more ecologic motor fuels is increasing gradually. The share  
of biodiesel with content of FAME biocomponent up to 4.4% represented almost 60% 
of total diesel production. Total production of motor gasoline was realised using 
own produced ETBE biocomponent. Slovnaft produced four types of motor gasoline  
with varying content of biocomponents, in accordance with customer requirements. 

Refinery 
and marketing

In 2007, energy-related costs significantly 
decreased driven by internal measures focused 
on efficiency improvement and technological 
discipline.

Marketing

The total volume of refinery products sold on 
the domestic market, including sales to the 
Administration of State Reserves, increased year-
on-year by almost 4.7% as a result of increasing 
demand especially for motor fuels. Similarly, 
the sale of refinery products for export was 
5.7% higher. The Company was able to further 
maintain its strong position on the markets  
of Central Europe as a result of the ability to  
meet market requirements for biofuels supplies.

Retail

The Company operated 209 filling stations as  
of 31 December 2007. In 2007, the recon-
struction of two stations was finalised and one 
station was sold. 

The total fuel volume sold was 0.2% higher 
than in 2006, with an average sale per station 
increase of 13%, what demonstrated the 
significantly increased efficiency of the Slovnaft 
filling station network. The Company’s market 
share in the framework of SAPPO based on 
sold volumes has not changed significantly 
compared to 2006.

As a result of higher demand, total motor 
diesel sales in volume terms increased year-
on-year by 5.7% and fully compensated the 
decrease in motor gasoline sales. The share of 
motor diesel sales of total volume grew from 
49.9% in 2006 to 52.6%. LPG sales remained 
constant at the 2006 level.

The growth in the Company’s non-fuel sales 
revenues by SKK 19 million indicates improved 
customer satisfaction, as well as a better 
perception of service quality and the range of 
shop products that the filling stations provided 
to customers.

A new BONUS catalogue with attractive 
products was introduced in the first half of 
2007, and two seasonal offers for BONUS Club 
members were prepared for loyal clients.

The on-going monitoring and optimisation 
of operational expenses allowed for further 
savings to be achieved in the amount of SKK 
33 million.

outlook

In 2008, the Slovnaft Group will focus its 
efforts on strengthening the competitiveness 
of refinery production mainly by supply chain 
management optimisation with the goal of 
satisfying the increased demand for high quality 
refinery products, especially motor diesel. 

The main goals of the Slovnaft Group in 
2008 are to further increase the conversion 
of crude oil processing, and the maximisation 
of the biofuel production share in accordance 
with the requirements of the European Union. 
Maintaining production unit turnaround cycles  
between 3 – 4 years, as well as the further 
lowering of energy demand, are also important 
tasks. 
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Summary

The Petrochemical Division of the Slovnaft Group supplies polymers mainly to small 
and medium sized European polymer processing companies. Products are widely 
used in foil production for packaging, technical applications, various daily use items 
and specialised parts for the automotive industry.

The strategic goal of the division is to continuously increase the profitability of  
the traditional Western European markets, develop a strong position in the new  
fast growing Eastern markets, and maintain a competitive cost position through 
ongoing improvements in efficiency.

Petrochemistry

Main events in 2007 

Ongoing integration of the MOL Group 
petrochemical division
In 2007, business integration of petroche-
mical activities with the MOL Group continued. 
The close cooperation with refineries within 
the MOL Group led to the increased security 
of feedstock supplies and more effective 
production planning. Through the product 
portfolio optimisation, challenging market 
demands have been met in a more flexible 
way. 

Operational results
With profit from operations exceeding SKK 
1.0 billion, representing the highest result 
in the history of the division, 2007 was an 
outstanding year. This was driven by favourable 
external development especially in the first 
three quarters of the year, strong demand 
supported by the increased consumption of 
the manufacturing sector, the highest ever 
production and sales of plastics, and also 
improved internal efficiency.

Reliable and economic operation
The division continues to improve the opera-
tional reliability of production units. During 
2007 it benefited from projects implemented 
in 2006. In the frame of the Process Control 
Centralisation project, a strong base has been 
set for the integration of all petrochemical 
control room operators in one control room. 
This has the aim of improving communication 
and work safety.

Record production
The maximum capacity utilisation of the Steam 
Cracker together with the strong performance 
of the Polypropylene unit led to a significant 
increase in both monomer and polymer 
production year-on-year.

The Company reached a record level of  
polymer production (432 thousand tons),  
and a record level of polymer sales (427 
thousand tons).

Marketing activities
In line with strategic marketing goals, the 
division continuously increases sales volumes  
on the Central and Middle European markets. 
This was also supported by the implemen-
tation of a single sales channel in Romania. 
Sales activities were improved on all main 
export markets, especially the Czech market. 
The division is focusing on closer cooperation, 
increasing customer satisfaction, and also 
extending customer loyalty through several 
projects, such as Open Doors. The ongoing 
product portfolio optimisation also supported 
the satisfaction of growing customer needs  
in terms of product range and quality. 

outlook

The unwavering focus remains on the 
improvement of production unit operational 
reliability, efficient operation, and strict cost 
control. The preparation for the modernisation 
and further development of polyethylene and 
monomer production is ongoing. The likely 
long-term outcome of this process will be  
the strengthening of the competitive position  
on both domestic and strategic export markets.
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HSE Management

The implementation of a new decentralised HSE structure started in 2007.  
HSE teams have become part of individual divisions and report directly to business  
unit managers, whereas in the past they reported to an integrated HSE department. 
This decentralisation brought increased flexibility of HSE management and the 
higher satisfaction of internal customers.

HSE

Social responsibility

In 2007, significant progress was achieved  
within the sustainable development mana-
gement system at MOL Group level. The 
purpose of this activity was to unify existing 
processes that contribute to sustainable 
development within a uniform management 
structure, to implement these principles  
in everyday activities, as well as ensuring 
ongoing performance improvement in this  
area and the integration of these issues  
under HSE.

In accordance with its commitment to 
open communication and the adoption of  
a constructive attitude towards stakeholders, 
Slovnaft annually publishes achievements  
as well as its vision for further improvements 
in the Sustainable Development Report,  
which is available at www.slovnaft.sk.

Health and safety

In 2007, the Company achieved great success 
when the two largest companies in the 
Slovnaft Group – SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Slovnaft 
Petrochemicals, s.r.o. recorded zero lost time 
injuries (two such injuries were recorded in 
2006). SLOVNAFT MONTÁŽE A OPRAVY a.s. 
also recorded a decrease in the number  
of lost time injuries, from three in 2006 to two 
in 2007. Generally, this represents a decrease 
of lost time injuries in the Slovnaft Group  
from five to two. Calculated per million  
of hours worked, there was a decrease in  
the lost time injury frequency in the Slovnaft 
Group from 0.9 in 2006 to 0.3 in 2007. Since 
2002, no fatal accidents of own employees  
or suppliers have been recorded.

These excellent results in the area of safety 
were also achieved thanks to the ongoing  
Safe Workplaces project. This aims to create 
a safe working environment, promote a safety 
culture, raise the safety awareness of leaders, 
reduce the number of lost time injuries, 
create and implement the internationally 
accepted PSM (Process Safety Management) 

system, utilise gained knowledge, and ensure 
the ongoing improvement of employees’ 
competences. Another important contribution 
to safety improvement is represented by 
the widening application of a standardised 
investigation method for the identification  
of the root causes of extraordinary events,  
in order to take efficient preventive measures.
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The long-anticipated legislation regulating 
chemical substances and agents named 
REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation 
and Restriction of Chemicals) came 
into effect in June 2007. The stocktaking 
of chemical substances was performed 
and harmonised between individual MOL 
Group companies for the purposes of their  
pre-registration and subsequent registration. 
As part of information sharing in the supply 
chain, the Company addressed the suppliers 
of chemical substances and communicated 
with customers in order to ensure the smooth 
continuance of business relations following 
the implementation of REACH. The Company 
successfully implemented the software 
tools necessary to ensure the fulfilment of  
obligations arising from this legislation.  
In cooperation with other MOL Group compa-
nies, the Company analysed opportunities 
for cooperation within various consortia in  
the preparation of future registration 
documents.

Environment

In 2007, the Company continued decontamina-
tion activities to eliminate past environmental 
damage. Decontamination has been performed 
at eight logistics terminals as part of the 
SIMPLE project which has been ongoing since 
2004. Decontamination activities at filling 
stations are almost complete. Remediation 
of one site started while one was completed 
in 2007. The costs of soil and ground water 
decontamination at logistics terminals and  
decommissioned filling stations totalled  
SKK 85 million in 2007.

The Slovnaft Group’s annual investment in 
environmental projects was SKK 830 million 
in 2006, while in 2007 the figure reached  
SKK 1.1 billion. Two thirds of this amount was 
attributable to the continuing Storage Tanks 
Reconstruction program and the modernisation 
of the Water Chemical Treatment unit. This 
amount also includes projects related to 
occupational health and safety.
 

Total air emissions were 18% lower year-
on-year. This was significantly influenced  
by lower SO

2 emissions. A positive impact  
on emission volumes was also achieved due to 
the shutdown of the waste incineration plant, 
the renewal of the sludge incineration plant, 
shut-down of N-alkanes, the increased energy 
efficiency of production, and a mild winter. 

In 2007, 16% less hazardous wastes were 
produced year-on-year as a result of the 
completion of decontamination at closed  
filling stations. The total amount of wastes 
increased by 10%, largely as a result of 
investments such as Storage Tank Recon-
struction, and Chemical Sewage System 
Reconstruction.

The first greenhouse gas emission trading 
period between 2005 and 2007 ended with  
a slight surplus. SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Slovnaft 
Petrochemicals, s.r.o., which will be involved 
in greenhouse gas emission trading from 
2008, closely cooperated during 2007 with  
the relevant state administration authorities  
in the preparation of the national allocation 
plan for the subsequent trading period.

outlook

The first obligations arising from REACH will take 
effect in 2008 by means of the pre-registration 
of chemical substances. The goal of the Slovnaft 
Group will therefore be the fulfilment of this 
obligation. From the beginning of the second 
greenhouse gas emissions trading period 
(2008 to 2012), the Company will focus on  
the identification and implementation of 
measures to ensure cost-effective compliance 
with the allocated quota. The implementation 
of the Safe Workplaces project will also 
continue.
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In 2007, the Company continued the development and improvement of Quality 
Management Systems. This was also confirmed by the result of audits performed 
by the SGS international auditing company, wherein no system discrepancies  
were recorded. The auditing company highly appreciated the quality of operations 
and the management of key processes in the certified areas, the improvement  
of internal audit process, and the use of various quality tools (Benchmarking, Audit 
Scoring) and problem solving methods (Shiba). A further positive finding indicated  
by SGS was the leading of employees to the ongoing improvement of activities. 

A significant stage in the development and deepening integration of cross-border 
processes also took place in 2007, the target and result of which was higher product 
quality and increasing customer satisfaction.

Quality
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Human resources 

In order to select and retain the best  
employees, the Company systematically 
cooperates with the most important Slovak 
universities, in the scope of the Growww 
project it offers unique work-stays and 
scholarships for the best students. As  
a result of this project 32 university graduates 
were hired in the previous year. Slovnaft 
was awarded the annual award for human 
resources development in the category 
Best Personnel Project of 2007. The award 
is announced annually by the Association  
for HR Manage ment and Development  
in cooperation with the IBIS Partner, s.r.o. 
agency.

Wage and social area

At the beginning of 2007, as a result of 
transparent and constructive cooperation 
with the social partner, a three-year collective 
agreement bringing positive changes in the 
wage and social area was signed. 

The goal of the Company is to gradually 
accentuate basing employee remuneration  
on efficiency and contribution to achieving  
the Company’s goals.
 
Wages paid by SLOVNAFT, a.s. in 2007 
totalled SKK 1.5 billion. The average monthly 
wage was SKK 50,437, significantly above 
the Slovak Republic average.

Slovnaft is interested in attracting and 
retaining the best experts who are offered 
motivating financial remuneration and  
a wide range of social benefits. Social costs 
in 2007 amounted to SKK 324 million. 

The most important social benefits included: 
optional social contributions, supplementary 
pension insurance, life and accident insurance 
contributions, health care, catering, loans 
from the social fund, social assistance  
during long-term sick leave and material 
need, and a new element was added:  
a one-off social contribution for child birth.

Employees are entitled to use the Company’s 
sport facilities, such as the swimming pool, 
sauna, tennis courts, sport hall, and bowling 
free of charge. 
 
The Company also looks after its retired 
employees. Slovnaft’s association of  
pensioners has 1,925 members and is active 
in the cultural, social and educational area. 
The Company supports these activities within 
its social politics and creates favourable 
post-productive life conditions for its former 
employees. 

According to the 2007 audit by the renowned Hewitt Associates agency, Slovnaft  
is one of the three best employers in Slovakia, with good wages and social politics 
at European level. In the scope of the strategic management of human resources, 
the Company pays great attention to the management of human resources, 
including care of its employees as well as their professional and personal growth. 
The Company’s personnel strategy clearly sets out the importance of employees 
in achieving the Slovnaft Group’s strategic goals. This is also facilitated by the 
corporate culture. 

As at 31 December 2007, the Company SLOVNAFT, a.s. employed 2,425 employees 
which represents a year-on-year increase of 69 people. Throughout the year,  
204 employees were hired, including 78 insourced employees for accounting, 
finance, and document management services. In 2007, 135 employees left  
the Company, of which 22 retired and 51 left as a result of organisational changes. 
The fluctuation rate was 5.7% – the lowest for five years.
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Education and employee 
development

The Company emphasises the further 
development and education of all its employees 
based on individual department needs. Total 
training costs in 2007 were SKK 39.2 million. 

Great attention was paid to the professional 
education of 2,025 employees, focused  
on worker and technical professions. 
A special series of professional education 
courses was provided for the 601 employees 
of the refinery. 

Employees with managerial background, 
numbering 416, took courses of management 
trainings focused on professional skills 
development and personal development, 
especially in the areas of effective human 
resources management, team-building, 
change management, and other effectiveness 
increasing activities. More than 500 specialist 
employees took part in trainings related to 
their current or perspective position.

In 2007, within the HSE project there was 
an extensive employee education series 
focused on safety at work, fire prevention, 
environmental protection, precaution against 
accidents and quality management. 

In order to improve employees’ IT skills, 
trainings for daily PC users as well as IT 
professionals were organised. IT courses 
were combined with an e-learning self-
education opportunity which was utilised  
by 593 employees.

The Company further emphasised the 
importance of language skills improvement. 
Language courses were attended by 316 
employees. 

As well as the above mentioned educational 
activities, the Company supports its  
employees in increasing their qualifications 
in the form of studies. In 2007, 77 employees 
attended university, 12 studied at secondary 
school, and 5 employees studied on an MBA 
program.

Employees who left the Company as a result 
of organisational changes were offered 
retraining courses, psychological counselling 
and personal advisory.

HUMan RESoURCES
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For Slovnaft, 2007 was a “bio-year” as a consequence of European Union 
requirements, Slovak legislation, and customer demand. Parallel to the revision  
of the long-term technological strategy and considering the new approach to 
sustainable development, in accordance with the European Union policy in the field 
of energies and environment (directive 2003/30/EC) the refinery was continuously 
preparing to satisfy the increasing market demand for biofuels. 

In 2007, Slovnaft focused on the production and sale of gasoline containing 4.4% of 
the biocomponent ETBE, and increased production of diesel fuel with FAME content,  
in accordance with the requirements and legislation of respective customer  
markets. At the same time, Project Addition of Bioethanol to Gasoline (E5) started  
and will significantly contribute to meeting the Company’s goal to produce biofuels. 

Research and 
development Studies were performed for the utilisation of 

glycerine, a waste material from FAME production. 

In the field of product development, the most 
significant achievements in 2007 were the 
development and introduction of arctic diesel, 
developed for the Army of the Slovak Republic; 
biogasoline with a high content of ETBE for 
export markets; as well as the preparation  
of modified bitumen containing rubber brash. 

In the HSE area, activities were performed 
related to the revamp of the Sludge Incinerator, 
increasing the efficiency of the biological stage 
of the Waste Water Treatment Plant, and  
the program of Storage Tanks Reconstruction. 

In the refinery area, activities were focused 
on the detection of potential safety risks – 
potential causes of serious industrial accidents 
and the preparation of proposals for such 
accidents’ prevention. 

With the goal of improving the environment  
for local residents in the vicinity of Slovnaft,  
the Company performs systematic screenings 
of potential sources of odorous substances 
and implements proposals on lowering the 
emissions of such substances.

In 2007, cost of research and development 
included in operating cost in SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
reached SKK 11,7 million.



The analysis and discussion
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Business environment

The volatility and historically high price of crude oil characterised 2007, especially 
the latter half. During the first three months of the year the average crude oil price 
reached 57.8 USD/bbl, a year-on-year decrease of 4.0 USD/bbl. The main reasons  
for this development were the exceptionally warm winter in the countries  
of the biggest consumers, market apprehension of increasing tension between 
Iran and the USA due to the alleged Iranian nuclear programme, and continuing 
disturbance in Nigeria - the main crude oil supplier to the USA. 

Management 
discussion and analysis

Dropouts in crude oil production, the decrease 
of older oilfields’ production capacities, and 
below-capacity utilisation of crude oil produc-
tion were seen in Nigeria, the North Sea, 
Venezuela, Iraq, Mexico and other countries. 
However, such shortfalls were compensated 
for by increased crude oil production in 
the countries of the former USSR, Canada, 
Africa, and Brasil. The increasing share of 
biocomponents added to motor fuels 
originating mainly from Brasil, the USA, and  
the EU, also contributed to satisfying the 
demand for crude oil. The supply of the 
global market was not significantly impacted 
by decreased OPEC production quotas at 
the beginning of 2007. This factor, however 
contributed to the fact that crude oil prices 
– following the rapid drop between 2006 
and 2007 to 50 USD/bbl – gradually returned 
to levels comparable to those from the first  
half of 2006. In the second quarter of 2007,  
the average price of Brent crude oil reached 
almost 68 USD/bbl. 

In the third quarter the world economy 
maintained its high dynamics, although the 
main source of growth moved from the USA 
to Asia and Europe. Crude oil prices reached 
higher values than a year previously (increase  
by 7.7%), mainly due to lower crude oil 
production by OPEC, a weaker USD, as well 
as constant geopolitical tension due to the 
alleged Iranian nuclear program.

In the last three months of 2007 the crude 
oil average price reached 88.5 USD/bbl, an 
increase year-on-year of 29 USD/bbl. Ongoing 
concerns regarding insufficient supplies during 
the winter season was one of the main factors 
that significantly affected this development 
and drove crude oil price ever higher. The 
price development during the last months of 
2007 was out of sync with market conditions,  
100 USD/bbl showed that the price of crude 
oil was overvalued. Speculative capital has 
been the main factor which pushed the 
price up. Political factors such as the Iranian 
crisis and the delayed OPEC decision regarding 

increased production quotas also contributed 
to the higher price of crude oil on the market.

The average values of motor gasoline crack 
spreads reached the level of 148 USD/t, 
which represents a 17% year-on-year growth. 
In Q1 2007, the crack spread level rose by 
19.3 USD/t in comparison with the first three 
months of 2006 when steady demand from the 
main motor gasoline consumers contributed 
to the increasing trend. This fact, along 
with limited refinery production, led to the 
significant utilisation of commercial supplies 
by the biggest consumer in the world, the 
USA. Inventory levels during the first half of 
2007 oscillated around a significantly lower 
level than the preceeding 5-year average. This 
development was one of the main reasons 
for the year-on-year average motor gasoline 
crack spreads increase of more than 20% 
on the global market, where average values 
reached 168 USD/t. Despite the anticipated 
negative influence of the hurricane season,  
the development of motor gasoline crack 
spreads during Q3 2007 stabilised, when 
achieved average values reached 143 USD/t, 
a year-on-year decrease of 6%. At the end  
of the year, the average values of motor 
gasoline crack spreads slightly decreased, 
reaching average values of 116.3 USD/t. 
An increase in comparison with the same 
period of the previous year by 40.2 USD/t 
was caused by the ongoing strengthening  
of demand for this commodity, as well as 
reduced refinery flexibility caused by tight 
qualitative specifications.

Brent (USD/bbl)

    I       II     III      IV     V     VI    VII    VIII   IX     X      XI    XII  

20072006

100

90

80

70

60

50



28 Slovnaft annUal REPoRt 2007 29ManaGEMEnt DISCUSSIon anD analYSIS

In 2007, the development of diesel fuel crack 
spreads was significantly influenced by strong 
economic growth and subsequent increased 
consumption of middle distillates. 

In Q1 2007, crack spreads grew year-on-year 
by 8.4%, reaching an average of 108.7 USD/t. 

However, in the following period commercial 
supplies of motor diesel and middle distillates 
generally maintained a sufficient level and 
exceeded the 5-year average value. The mild 
weather did not force consumers to use these 
refinery products for heating, which is the 
reason motor diesel consumption in the given 
period was primarily accelerated by economic 
growth. Diesel fuel crack spreads were 11% 
lower year-on-year. This trend continued  
through autumn when average values recorded 
another slight drop year-on-year. However,  
at year-end the situation had changed 
dramatically, when due to the significant 
growth of demand for motor diesel and fuel 
oils, low inventories in the USA, as well as 
strict product specifications, the average  
value of crack spreads reached 158.8 USD/t. 
This represented a year-on-year increase of 
39.3 USD/t (almost 34%).

financial operations

Profit and loss statement
Sales revenues in 2007 were influenced by 
record crude oil processing, reliable operations, 
significantly higher sales volumes of motor 
fuels and petrochemical products together 
with higher quoted prices. The decrease of 
sales revenues by SKK 5.5 billion year-on-year 
was mainly the result of the stronger SKK.  
A similar development could also be observed 
in raw materials and consumables used. The 
change in inventories was SKK 943 million 
higher and was affected by turnarounds 
performed in 2006. The value of services  
and personnel expenses were practically in 
line with the previous year. Depreciation,  
SKK 189 million higher, was caused by capital 
expenditures and the capitalisation of fixed 
assets in 2007. Other operating expenses 
were SKK 999 million lower due to different 
provision creation and release compared to 
the previous year. 

Balance sheet
Fixed assets were SKK 894 million lower  
as a result of lower capital expenditure and 
the finalisation of main projects in 2006. 
Available-for-sale financial assets increased by 
SKK 380 million mainly due to their revaluation 
to market value. The value of inventories 
was SKK 1.2 billion higher mainly as  
a result of higher crude oil product prices.  
Trade receivables and trade payables were 
higher by SKK 1.1 billion and SKK 1.9 billion 
respectively due to higher quoted product and 
crude oil prices in December as accele rated  
by higher sales and processing. Other balance 
sheet items showed only minimal changes 
which were a result of changes in operating 
activity year-on-year.

Cash flow
The total closing value of cash and cash equi - 
valents in 2007 amounted to SKK 2.5 billion, 
which represented a slight decrease of 
SKK 0.6 billion year-on-year. This result 
reflected the repayment of loans in 2006  

in the total amount of SKK 8.7 billion, which 
was granted to MOL Nyrt. as part of the  
MOL Group’s liquidity management. The 
financial position of the Slovnaft Group 
remains stable.
 

Motor fuels crack spread USD/t
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Refinery and marketing

In 2007, Slovnaft processed almost 6.0 million 
tons of crude oil, 0.4 million tons more than 
in 2006. The high volume of processed crude 
oil was supported by the reliable operation 
of key production units and the fact that 
in 2007 no turnarounds were realised. The 
quality of processed crude oil was in line  
with contracted specifications.

Production volume increased by 459 thousand 
tons. This result reflects the high processing 
of crude oil, as well as the high performance 
parameters achieved by production units. 
In comparison with 2006, the production of 
motor fuels increased by 417 thousand tons. 
Due to a strong demand, the production of 
diesel was intensified. In 2007, the Company 
produced 166 thousand tons more motor 
gasoline and 251 thousand tons more motor 
diesel year-on-year. The high production 
of motor fuels was a result of the stable 
operation of the cracking processes that 
convert heavy fractions into high quality 
motor fuels.

In 2007, the total volume of refinery products 
sold, including the sale of motor fuels to the 
Administration of State Reserves, reached 
5.5 million tons (excluding sales to the 
petrochemical segment), which represents 
annual growth of 5.8%, comparing to 2006 
when it achieved 5.2 million tons. However, 
sales revenues from refinery products de - 

creased by 4.8% mainly due to the deve-
lopment of the Slovak currency against both 
the EUR and USD.

In 2007, the volume of refinery products  
sold on the domestic market, including the 
sale of motor fuels to the Administration of 
State Reserves, was higher by almost 4.7% 
year-on-year mainly due to the 7% increase 
in motor fuel sales. The 5.8% increase in 
diesel sales and 9% in motor gasoline sales 
correlated with the high economic growth 
in Slovakia that year-on-year oscilated 
around 9%. The increase in motor diesel 
sales confirmed the several year trend of 
increasing demand for this product. The 
Slovak market was supplied with motor  
diesel with FAME and motor gasoline with 
ETBE.

An increasing trend was recorded in kerosene 
sales, due to increased demand for charter 
flights as well as regular flights from all 
Slovak airports.

In 2007, the sale of bitumen was strongly 
influenced by the lower volume of road 
construction and maintenance work, as  
a consequence of the large-scale decrease  
of such work in 2006. Total sales of bitumen 
on the domestic market in 2007 decreased 
year-on-year by more than 14.7%. The trend 
of decreased demand for bitumen was also 
confirmed by a generally lower import of 
bitumen products during 2007. 

In 2007, the ECO+ autogas (LPG) sale 
maintained last year’s level. Considering 
the 10% decrease of total sales of autogas  
in Slovakia, the retail sales of the Company 
can be considered successful. This is reflected  
in the fact that Slovnaft increased its share  
on the Slovak autogas market from 22.4%  
to 25.1%. In 2007, the number of filling  
stations selling ECO+ autogas increased  
by 11 to 95 at the end of 2007.

Revenues from the sale of refinery products 
on the domestic market (including sales to 
the Administration of State Reserves) slightly 
decreased (by 3.2 % year-on-year) as a result 
of the exchange rate development.

Total sale of motor gasoline on export markets 
was 96 thousand tons (8.7%) higher in 
2007 year-on-year. This increase in sale was 
positively influenced by the highest processing 
of crude oil in the history of Slovnaft, stable 
operations of production units during the year, 
the capability to keep production of high quality 
fuels within parameters above the framework 
of European standards (in consideration of 
national legislative modifications related to 
biofuel blending), and also by a customer-
oriented approach to individual markets. In 
the Czech Republic, the higher sales were 
influenced by the long-term shutdown of the 
production capacities of domestic producer 
ČESKÁ RAFINÉRSKÁ, a.s. towards the end of 
2007. The sale of motor gasoline on export 
markets increased mainly in Austria, the Czech 
Republic, and Poland, decreasing supplies 
to less attractive markets. Due to legislative 
changes in individual countries, motor gasoline 
sales with higher biocomponent commenced 
on the German and Hungarian markets. 

Sales of motor diesel in export markets 
increased year-on-year in 2007 by 118 thousand 
tons, mainly due to increased sales in  
the highly competitive markets of Austria,  
the Czech Republic, and Germany. A significant 
influence on sales, besides record-breaking 
crude oil processing and production of high 

quality fuels, was the demand for motor diesel 
in Central and Eastern Europe that had recently 
recorded a slight shortage especially during 
peak driving and agricultural seasons. Sales of 
motor diesel with biocomponent on the Czech 
and Hungarian markets was supported by 
legislative changes in these countries. 

Revenues from sales of refinery products  
for export decreased by 5.5% year-on-year.

Production volume 2007
thousand tons

2006
thousand tons

Motor gasoline 1,617.0 1,450.8

Diesel 2,863.9 2,612.8

Kerosene 79.7 44.6

Heavy fuel oil 206.6 262.1

Bitumen and oxidation mixture 35.7 41.1

Sulphur 77.7 64.8

Other refinery products 219.9 182.5

Petrochemical products 220.8 204.1

Total 5,321.3 4,862.8
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Sales of other refinery and petrochemical 
products which represent almost 16% of  
total sales in terms of volume decreased  
year-on-year by 6.9%, mainly due to the  
ceasing of n-alkanes production. The adopted 
strategy of supply chain management 
optimisation was the main factor influencing 
the development of other refinery and 
petrochemical products sales that complete 
the product portfolio of the Company.
 

Petrochemicals

In 2007, the petrochemicals division processed 
742 thousand tons of naphtha and light 
hydrocarbons. The Steam Cracker produced 
221 thousand tons of ethylene and 104 
thousand tons of propylene, which represented 
a historical record over the more than 30-year 
existence of the unit.

In 2007, the polypropylene unit produced  
262 thousand tons, an increase of 20%  
year-on-year. Beside the higher production,  
the product portfolio also changed considerably. 
The higher ratio of progressive copolymers 
facilitated the meeting of customer needs  
in a more effective and flexible way. The 
share of copolymers was 23%, while in 2006  
it was 16%.

In 2007, polyethylene production reached  
170 thousand tons as a result of a lack of 
ethylene on the market.
 
The improved operational reliability of the 
polypropylene unit contributed to the strong 
increase in polymer sales to 427 thousand 
tons, 10% higher year-on-year.

Compared to 2006, both domestic (16%)  
and export sales (9%) volumes increased.  
As a result of the improved product and 
customer portfolio, sales increased mainly 
on strategic markets – both in terms of 
consumption and growth. The share of spot 
sales dropped significantly.
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Corporate services

In 2007, within the Global 5 program (the  
objective of which is to build strategic 
partnerships with suppliers) important  
contracts in the area of providing engineering 
and project services and expert support in  
investment activities were signed. Beside 
this initiative which focused on efficiency 
improvements from external resources, the 
Company analysed the potential of more 
effective procurement from increasing 
expert knowledge and the improvement  
of procurement staff skills. Electronic 
procurement has become a common tool 

for procurement, ensuring increased process 
transparency and the effectiveness of supplier 
selection.

In 2007, the first analytical phase was 
completed of the facility audit. The objective 
was to establish an information database for 
progressive solutions in the areas of Facility 
and Property Management.

In 2007, the optimisation of logistics, main 
warehouse, and local chemical stores in 
individual production units successfully began. 
This optimisation will introduce more effective 
management of the Company’s property.

Investment activities

Capital expenditures of the Slovnaft Group 
(CAPEX) in 2007 reached SKK 2.7 billion, of 
which more than SKK 1.1 billion was invested  
in environmental protection and other HSE 
related projects.

A major part of investments, almost  
SKK 2.3 billion, was spent in the Refining 
and Marketing segment. The most significant 
investments in this segment were ecological 
projects where expenditures for the long-
term project Reconstruction of Storage 
Tanks were SKK 502 million. Investments  
in operational reliability projects reached  
SKK 651 million. Further capital expenditures 
of SKK 296 million were directed to production 
efficiency improvements. Expenditures aimed 
at the expansion of the production process 
reached SKK 167 million, of this SKK 151 million  
into the joint-venture company MEROCO, a.s. 

Capital expenditures in the Petrochemical seg-
ment reached SKK 129 million, focusing mainly 
on ensuring operational reliability in the amount 
of SKK 92 million, ecological projects, and the 
preparation of projects for the Steam Cracker 
unit revamp and a new LDPE production unit. In the Retail Segment, capital expenditures  

in 2007 amounted to SKK 107 million. Invest-
ment activities concentrated on launching the 
operation of the reconstructed filling station 
Bratislava-Lamač, and environmental projects 
(namely emergency tanks built at 38 filling 
stations). In 2007, the reconstruction of shops 
at two filling stations was completed, and the 
Bonus loyalty system was improved in order 
to widen the range of services provided to 
customers.

Capital expenditures related to information tech-
nology represented SKK 103 million in 2007. 
Investments were targeted at the optimisation 
of the Company’s information systems.

More than SKK 73 million was invested in the 
security, protection, and safety of facilities  
operation, as well as improving the working 
environment.
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SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International financial Reporting Standards together with 
the independent auditor’s report

31 December 2007
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SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International financial Reporting Standards for the year 
ended 31 December 2007

General Information 

SLOVNAFT, a.s. (“SLOVNAFT” or “the Company”) was registered in Slovakia as a joint stock 
company on 1 May 1992. Prior to that date it was a state owned enterprise. The Company was set 
up in accordance with Slovak regulations. The Company has its primary listing on the Bratislava 
Stock Exchange. 

The principal activities of the Company, its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates (“the Group”) 
are the processing of crude oil and the distribution and sale of refined products.

The Company’s registered address and registration numbers are:
SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
Registration No.: 31 322 832
Tax registration No: 2020372640
Vlčie hrdlo 1
824 12 Bratislava
Slovak Republic

Since April 2003 the parent company of the Group is MOL Nyrt., Hungarian Oil and Gas Company, 
incorporated and domiciled in Hungary. 

In 2007, the Group had 3,671 employees on average (2006: 3,795 employees), 97 of which were 
management (2006: 96 managers).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of Slovak Crowns.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board  
of Directors on 14 March 2008. 

These consolidated financial statements are placed at the Company’s registered address and  
at the Commercial Register of District Court in Bratislava I, Záhradnícka 10, 812 44 Bratislava.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International financial Reporting Standards

31 December 2007

Bratislava, 14 March 2008

 Marián Jusko Oszkár Világi
 Chairman of the Board of Directors  Member of the Board of Directors
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SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2007 

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 2 615 672

Property, plant and equipment 3 39,438 40,332

Investments in associated companies 5 121 97

Available-for-sale financial assets 6 1,919 1,438

Deferred tax asset 24 12 84

Other non-current assets 7 224 39

Total non-current assets 42,329 42,662

Current assets

Inventories 8 9,684 8,479

Trade receivables 9 8,716 7,631

Income tax receivable 1 738

Available-for-sale financial assets 6 1 102

Other current assets 10 7,980 6,040

Cash and cash equivalents 11 2,473 3,085

Total current assets 28,855 26,075

TOTAL ASSETS 71,184 68,737

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Share capital 12 20,625 20,625

Share premium 3,649 3,649

Reserves 19,155 19,938

Profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent 7,582 6,357

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 51,011 50,569

Minority interest 22 56

Total equity 51,033 50,625

Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current portion 14 111 18

Provisions for liabilities and charges 16 1,210 1,211

Deferred tax liability 24 1,259 990

Government grants and other non-current liabilities 17 655 697

Total non-current liabilities 3,235 2,916

Current liabilities

Trade payables 12,081 10,218

Provisions for liabilities and charges 16 126 459

Short-term debt incl. current portion of long-term debt 15 838 1,049

Income tax payable 346 4

Other current liabilities 18 3,525 3,466

Total current liabilities 16,916 15,196

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 71,184 68,737

Notes
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

Net revenue 30 114,612 120,066

Other operating income 19 1,123 1,172

Total operating income 115,735 121,238

Raw materials and consumables used (94,464) (100,066)

Personnel expenses 20 (3,134) (3,117)

Depreciation, depletion, amortisation and impairment 30 (3,625) (3,436)

Value of services used 21 (4,719) (4,811)

Other operating expenses 22 (1,772) (2,771)

Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 1,283 340

Work performed by the enterprise and capitalised 81 610

Total operating expenses (106,350) (113,251)

Profit from operations 30 9,385 7,987

Finance revenues 23 320 429

Finance expenses 23 (271) (475)

Income from associates 24 21

Profit before tax 24 9,458 7,962

Income tax expense 24 (1,876) (1,606)

Profit for the period 7,582 6,356

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 25 7,582 6,357

Minority interest – (1)

Basic / diluted earnings per share attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent (SKK) 25 367.6 308.2
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SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2007 

 

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2007 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions
Profit before tax 9,458 7,962
Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax
to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation, depletion, amortisation and impairment 30 3,625 3,436
Amortisation of deferred income 17,19 (53) (55)
Write-off of inventories, net 21 17
(Decrease) / increase in provisions for liabilities and charges, net (335) 302
Net gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 19 (337) (166)
Write-off of receivables 28 67
Unrealised foreign exchange gain on receivables and payables (50) (2)
Net gain on sale of available-for-sale investments and subsidiaries (109) (200)
Interest revenue 23 (219) (206)
Interest expense on borrowings 23 45 36
Net foreign exchange loss excluding foreign exchange 
differences on receivables and payables 23 144 387

Other financial loss, net 82 29
Share of net profit of associate (24) (21)
Other non cash items (50) (8)
Operating cash flow before changes in working capital 12,226 11,578
(Increase) in inventories (1,226) (2,021)
(Increase) / decrease in trade receivables (1,180) 710
(Increase) / decrease in other current assets (1,512) 694
Increase / (decrease) in trade payables 1,885 (2,348)
Increase / (decrease) in other current liabilities 155 (209)
Corporate income tax paid (528) (1,633)
Net cash provided by operating activities 9,820 6,771
Capital expenditures (2,847) (4,237)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment 399 423
Net cash inflow on sale of subsidiary undertakings 7 453
Purchase of available-for-sale investments – (18)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments – 319
Proceeds from sale of assets classified as held for sale – 619
Short-term loans (granted) / repaid, net (418) (2,965)
Long-term loans granted – (2,231)
Repayment of long-term loans granted – 8,650
Interest received and other financial income 219 202
Dividends received – 39
Net cash used in investing activities (2,640) 1,254
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 138 18
Repayments of long-term borrowings (9) –
Net (payments) / proceeds from derivatives transactions (19) 12
Net (repayment) / proceeds from short-term non-bank borrowings (140) 971
Net (repayment) / proceeds from short-term bank loans (123) 123
Interest paid and other financial costs (52) (34)
Dividends paid to shareholders (7,481) (7,779)
Decrease in minority interest (34) –
Net cash used in financing activities (7,720) (6,689)
(Decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (540) 1,336
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 11 3,085 1,872
Effects of exchange rate changes (72) (123)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 11 2,473 3,085

Opening balance 
1 January 2006

20,625 3,649 (79) 18,722 147 18,790 8,997 52,061 57 52,118

Available-for-sale 
financial assets:

Fair value 
changes

– – – – (40) (40) – (40) – (40)

Reversal
of impairment

– – – – 37 37 – 37 – 37

Deferred tax – – – – 1 1 – 1 – 1

Currency translation 
differences

– – (61) – – (61) – (61) – (61)

Total income 
and expense 
recognised 
directly in equity

– – (61) – (2) (63) – (63) – (63)

Profit for the period – – – – – – 6,357 6,357 (1) 6,356

Total income 
and expense 

– – (61) – (2) (63) 6,357 6,294 (1) 6,293

Transfer to reserves 
of retained profit 
for the previous year

– – – 8,997 – 8,997 (8,997) – – –

Dividends – – – (7,786) – (7,786) – (7,786) – (7,786)

Closing balance 

31 December 2006
20,625 3,649 (140) 19,933 145 19,938 6,357 50,569 56 50,625

Available-for-sale 
financial assets:

Fair value 
changes

– – – – 481 481 – 481 – 481

Recycled to income 
statement on sale

– – – – (101) (101) – (101) – (101)

Deferred tax – – – – (72) (72) – (72) – (72)

Currency translation 
differences

– – 39 – – 39 – 39 – 39

Total income 
and expense 
recognised directly 
in equity

– – 39 – 308 347 – 347 – 347

Profit for the period – – – – – – 7,582 7,582 – 7,582

Total income 
and expense 

– – 39 – 308 347 7,582 7,929 – 7,929

Decrease in minority 
interest

– – – – – – – – (34) (34)

Transfer to reserves 
of retained profit 
for the previous year

– – – 6,357 – 6,357 (6,357) – – –

Dividends – – – (7,487) – (7,487) – (7,487) – (7,487)

Closing balance 
31 December 2007

20,625 3,649 (101) 18,803 453 19,155 7,582 51,011 22 51,033
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SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

iii)  Principles of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the subsidiaries 
that it controls. This control is normally evidenced when the Group owns, either directly or 
indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights of that company’s share capital and is able to govern 
the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to benefit from its activities. As required 
by IAS 27, immediately exercisable voting rights are taken into account in determining control.

The purchase method of accounting is used for acquired businesses by measuring assets and 
liabilities at their fair values upon acquisition, the date of which is determined with reference to  
the date of obtaining control. Minority interest is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair 
values of net assets. The income and expenses of companies acquired or disposed of during  
the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or up 
to the date of disposal.

Intercompany balances and transactions, including intercompany profits and unrealised profits 
and losses are eliminated. The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform 
accounting policies for like transactions and other events in similar circumstances.
 
Minority interest represents the profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and is 
shown separately in the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated income statements, 
respectively. Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for using the parent company 
extension method, whereby the difference between the consideration and the book value of  
the share of the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties (venturers) undertake 
an economic activity that is subject to joint control. Joint control exists only when the strategic 
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the 
venturers. A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a company, 
partnership or other entity to engage in economic activity that the group jointly controls with  
its fellow venturers. 

The Company’s interests in its joint ventures are accounted for by the proportionate consolidation 
method, where a proportionate share of the joint venture’s assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
is combined with similar items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-line basis.  
The financial statements of the joint ventures are prepared for the same reporting year as  
the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. 

When the Group contributes or sells assets to the joint venture, any portion of gain or loss from the 
transaction is recognised based on the substance of the transaction. When the Group purchases 

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance 
with International financial Reporting Standards for the year ended  
31 December 2007

1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board  
of Directors on 14 March 2008.

With effect from 1 January 2005, the change in the Slovak Accounting Act requires the Company  
to prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union (“EU”). At this time, due to the 
endorsement process of the EU, and the activities of the Group, there is no difference between 
the IFRS policies applied by the Group and those adopted by the EU. 

For the purposes of the application of the historical cost convention, the consolidated financial 
statements treat the Company as having come into existence on 1 May 1992, at the carrying  
values of assets and liabilities determined at that date, subject to the IFRS adjustments. 

The financial statements were prepared using the going concern assumption that the Company 
will continue its operations for the foreseeable future.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the Notes 
thereto. Although these estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, the actual results may differ from those estimations. 

The financial year is the same as the calendar year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the previous period were approved  
by Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 20 April 2007. 

i)  Information on consolidated group

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are included in the consolidated financial 
statements of the MOL Group. MOL Nyrt., Október huszonharmadika u. 18, 1117 Budapest, 
Hungary, prepares the Group’s consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial 
statements are available directly at the registered addresses of the company stated above.

ii)  Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and all applicable IFRS that have been adopted by the EU. 
IFRS comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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•  IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
•  IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment

The Group has not early adopted any standards and interpretations that were published but  
not yet effective. 

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

IfRS 7 financial Instruments: Disclosures
Upon adoption of IFRS 7, the Group discloses additional information about its financial instruments, 
their significance and the nature and extent of risks to which they give rise. More specifically,  
the Group is required to disclose the fair value of its financial instruments and its risk exposure 
in a greater detail. The new disclosures are included throughout the financial statements. 

IaS 1 Presentation of financial Statements – amendment to add disclosures about an entity’s 
capital
Amendments to IAS 1 also require certain additional disclosures to enable users of the financial 
statements to evaluate the Group’s capital management policies and objectives. These new 
disclosures are shown in Note 26.

IfRIC 8 Scope of IfRS 2
IFRIC 8 requires IFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangements where equity instruments are issued  
for consideration which appears to be less than fair value. This interpretation had no impact  
on the financial position of the Group.

IfRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC 9 states that the date to assess the existence of an embedded derivative is the date  
that an entity first becomes a party to the contract, with reassessment only if there is a change 
to the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows. This interpretation had no impact on the 
financial position of the Group.

IfRIC 10 Interim financial Reporting and Impairment
The Group adopted IFRIC 10 as at 1 January 2007, which requires that an entity must not 
reverse an impairment loss recognised in a previous interim period in respect of goodwill or  
an investment in either an equity instrument or a financial asset carried at cost. As the Group 
had no impairment losses previously reversed, the interpretation had no impact on the financial 
position or performance of the Group.

assets from the joint venture, the Group does not recognise its share of the profits of the joint 
venture from the transaction until it resells the assets to an independent party. 

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence 
through participation in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but which  
is not a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity. 

The Group’s investments in its associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 
Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost 
plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. Goodwill 
relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised.  
The income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there 
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its 
share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. 
Profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated 
to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The reporting dates of the associate and the Group are identical and the associate’s accounting 
policies conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

Investments in associates are assessed to determine whether there is any objective evidence of 
impairment. If there is evidence the recoverable amount of the investment is determined to identify 
any impairment loss to be recognised. Where losses were made in previous years, an assessment 
of the factors is made to determine if any loss may be reversed.

iv)   Changes in Accounting Policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those applied in the previous financial years 
except as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during 
the year. Except as noted below, adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any 
effect on the financial statements of the Group. 

• IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures
• IAS 1   Presentation of Financial Statements - Amendment to add disclosures about an entity’s 
    capital
• IFRIC 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting 
    in Hyperinflationary Economies
•  IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

IfRS 2 Share-based Payment – amendment relating to vesting conditions and cancellations
This amendment to IFRS 2 – Share-based Payment clarifies the definition of vesting and  
non-vesting conditions, as well as the accounting treatment of cancellations. The amendment  
will have no material impact on the existing share-based schemes of the Group.

IfRS 3 Business Combinations – Comprehensive revision on applying the acquisition method
This revised standard contains a numerous changes compared to the previous IFRS 3. Among 
others, non-controlling interests must be measured either at fair value or as the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets, where previously only the 
latter was permitted. Additional guidance was added on recognizing contingencies and measuring 
certain identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. Furthermore, costs incurred by the 
acquirer in connection with the business combination must be recognized as expense, as opposed 
to the previous treatment which required these to be included in the calculation of goodwill.  
The revision will have no material impact on the currently reported financial position of the Group 
as it will be applied prospectively. 

IfRS 8 operating Segments
This standard requires disclosure of information about the Group’s operating segments and 
replaces the requirement to determine primary (business) and secondary (geographical) reporting 
segments of the Group. The management expects that there will be no change in the current 
disclosures, as the primary business segments determined for reporting purposes will qualify  
as operating segments under the new Standard.

IaS 23 Borrowing Costs – Comprehensive revision to prohibit immediate expensing
The standard has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs relate 
to a qualifying asset. A qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of 
time to get ready for its intended use or sale. The Group currently follows this policy; therefore the 
change will have no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

IaS 27 Consolidated and Separate financial Statements – Consequential amendments arising 
from amendments to IfRS 3 
This revised standard requires the attribution of total comprehensive income to the owners of the 
parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having 
a negative balance. The previous standard allocated such excess losses to the owners of the 
parent except for some rare circumstances. In addition, requirements were added to treat changes 
in a parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary which do not result in the loss of control within 
equity, as well as specifying that any gain or loss arising on the loss of control of a subsidiary must 
be recognized in profit or loss. The revision will have no material impact on the currently reported 
financial position of the Group as it will be applied prospectively. 

Issued but not yet effective International financial Reporting Standards
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and 
Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective:

• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment – Amendment relating to vesting conditions and cancellations
   (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
• IFRS 3 Business Combinations – Comprehensive revision on applying the acquisition method 
   (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009)
• IFRS 8 Operating Segments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
   1 January 2009)
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Comprehensive revision including requiring
   a statement of comprehensive income (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 January 2009)
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to disclosure 
   of puttable instruments and obligations arising on liquidation (effective for annual
   periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009)
• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs – Comprehensive revision to prohibit immediate expensing
   (effective for borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the commencement 
   date for capitalisation is on or after 1 January 2009)
• IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Consequential amendments 
   arising from amendments to IFRS 3 (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 July 2009)
• IAS 28 Investments in Associates – Consequential amendments arising from amendments
   to IFRS 3 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009)
• IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures – Consequential amendments arising from amendments 
   to IFRS 3 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009)
• IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation – Amendments relating to puttable instruments
   and obligations arising on liquidation (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 January 2009)
• IFRIC 11 IFRS 2: Group and Treasury Share Transactions (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 March 2007)
• IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 January 2008)
• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 July 2008)
• IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
   and their Interaction (effective for annual periods beginning 
   on or after 1 January 2008)

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Summary of significant accounting policies

i)   Presentation Currency

Based on the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances the functional 
currency of the parent company and the presentation currency of the Group have been determined 
to be the Slovak Crown (SKK). 

ii)   Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase accounting method. This involves 
recognising identifiable assets (including previously unrecognised intangible assets) and liabilities 
(including contingent liabilities and excluding future restructuring) of the acquired business at fair 
value.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the 
cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirer’s 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group 
are assigned to those units or groups of units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill 
is allocated represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for 
internal management purposes, and is not larger than a segment based on the Group’s reporting 
format determined in accordance with IAS 14 Segment Reporting.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (or group of cash generating units) and part of 
the operation within that unit (or group) is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation 
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss 
on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the 
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

When subsidiaries are sold, the difference between the selling price and the net assets plus 
cumulative translation differences and un-amortised goodwill is recognised in the income 
statement.

iii)   Investments and Other Financial Assets

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity investments, or available for sale 
financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured 
at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 

IaS 32 financial Instruments: Presentation – amendments relating to puttable instruments  
and obligations arising on liquidation
This revised standard requires some puttable financial instruments and some financial instruments 
that impose on the entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of the net assets 
of the entity only on liquidation to be classified as equity. The amendment will have no impact  
on the existing financial instruments of the Group.

IfRIC 11 IfRS 2: Group and treasury Share transactions
This interpretation requires arrangements whereby an employee is granted rights to an entity’s 
equity instruments to be accounted for as an equity-settled scheme, even if the entity buys  
the instruments from another party, or the shareholders provide the equity instruments needed.  
The Group expects that this interpretation will have no impact on its financial position.

IfRIC 12 Service Concession arrangements
IFRIC 12 applies to service concession operators and explains how to account for the obligations 
undertaken and rights received in service concession arrangements. No member of the Group  
is an operator and hence this interpretation will have no impact on the Group.

IfRIC 13 Customer loyalty Programmes
IFRIC 13 requires customer loyalty award credits to be accounted for as a separate component 
of the sales transaction in which they are granted and therefore part of the fair value of  
the consideration received is allocated to the award credits and deferred over the period that  
the award credits are fulfilled. The Group expects that this interpretation will have no material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements based on the currently existing loyalty schemes.

IfRIC 14 IaS 19 – the limit on a Defined Benefit asset, Minimum funding Requirements  
and their Interaction
IFRIC 14 provides guidance on how to assess the limit on the amount of surplus in a defined 
benefit scheme that can be recognised as an asset under IAS 19 Employee Benefits. The Group 
expects that this interpretation will have no impact on the financial position or performance  
of the Group as currently it has no funded defined benefit schemes.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2007 and 2006, no financial assets have been designated as held-to-maturity 
investments.

loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement loans and receivables are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance 
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate and transaction 
costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables 
are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated 
as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding categories. After initial 
measurement, available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealised gains 
or losses being recognised directly in equity in the fair valuation reserve. When the investment is 
disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the income 
statement.

fair value

For investments that are actively traded in organized financial markets, fair value is determined 
by reference to quoted market prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  
For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference  
to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated 
based on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment.

iv)   Classification and Derecognition of Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities carried on the consolidated balance sheets include cash 
and cash equivalents, marketable securities, trade and other accounts receivable and payable, 
long-term receivables, loans, borrowings, investments, and bonds receivable and payable. The 
accounting policies on recognition and measurement of these items are disclosed in the respective 
accounting policies found in this Note. 

Financial instruments (including compound financial instruments) are classified as assets, liabilities 
or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, 
gains, and losses relating to a financial instrument classified as a liability, are reported as expense 
or income as incurred. Distributions to holders of financial instruments classified as equity are 
charged directly to equity. In case of compound financial instruments the liability component is 
valued first, with the equity component being determined as a residual value. Financial instruments 

attributable transaction costs. The Group considers whether a contract contains an embedded 
derivative when the Group first becomes a party to it.

Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on settlement date which is the date when  
the asset is delivered to the counterparty. 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for trading  
and financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit and loss.

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling 
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments or a financial 
guarantee contract. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the income 
statement. 

Financial assets may be designated at initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if the 
following criteria are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent 
treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or recognising gains or losses 
on them on a different basis; or (ii) the assets are part of a group of financial assets which are 
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset contains an embedded derivative that would 
need to be separately recorded. Such financial assets are recorded as current, except for those 
instruments which are not due for settlement within 12 months from the balance sheet date 
and are not held with the primary purpose of being traded. In this case all payments on such 
instruments are classified as non-current. 

As at 31 December 2007 and 2006, no financial assets have been designated as at fair value 
through profit and loss.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets which carry fixed or determinable 
payments, have fixed maturities and which the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity. After initial measurement held to maturity investments are measured at amortised 
cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus 
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest rate method of any difference 
between the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount, less allowance for impairment. 
This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums and 
discounts. Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the investments are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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assets carried at amortised cost

If there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried  
at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference  
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
(excluding future expected credit losses) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The amount of the loss 
is recognised in the income statement.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial 
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that  
are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists 
for financial assets, whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed  
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost 
(net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment 
loss previously recognised in the income statement, is transferred from equity to the income 
statement. Impairment losses recognised on equity instruments classified as available for sale  
is not reversed. Impairment losses recognised on debt instruments classified as available for sale 
are reversed through the income statement, if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income 
statement.

viii)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes cash on hand and bank accounts. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with maturity less than 
three months from the date of acquisition and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change  
in value.

are offset when the Company has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

The derecognition of a financial instrument takes place when the Group no longer controls  
the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when  
the instrument is sold, or all the cash flows attributable to the instrument are passed through  
to an independent third party.

v)   Derivative Financial Instruments 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts to reduce 
its risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative. 

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to net profit 
or loss for the year as financial income or expense. 

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange 
rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if 
all of the following conditions are met:

• the economic characteristics and the risks of the embedded derivative are not closely 
 related to the economic characteristics of the host contract,
• a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet
 the definition of a derivative, and
• a hybrid (combined) instrument is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
 reported in current period net profit.

vi)   Hedging

No transactions have been designated as hedges for the purpose of hedge accounting.

vii)  Impairment of Financial Assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



58 Slovnaft annUal REPoRt 2007 59ConSolIDatED fInanCIal StatEMEntS

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

xii)  Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalized at cost and from a business acquisition are 
capitalized at fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise;  
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. 

Following initial recognition, the cost model is applied to the class of intangible assets. The 
useful lives of these intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Amortisation 
is charged on assets with a finite useful life over the best estimate of their useful lives using the 
straight line method. The amortisation period and the amortisation method are reviewed annually 
at each financial year-end. Intangible assets, excluding development costs, created within the 
business are not capitalized and expenditure is charged against income in the year in which the 
expenditure is incurred. Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually either individually or at 
the cash generating unit level. Useful lives are also examined on an annual basis and adjustments, 
where applicable are made on a prospective basis.

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred on an individual 
project is carried forward when its future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured. 
Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure the cost model is applied requiring 
the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Costs in development 
stage cannot be amortised. The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment 
annually when the asset is not yet in use or more frequently when an indicator of impairment arises 
during the reporting year indicating that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

xiii)  Depreciation, Depletion and Amortisation

Depreciation of each component of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment is 
computed on a straight-line basis over their respective useful lives. Usual periods of useful lives  
for different types of intangible assets and property, plat and equipment are as follows: 

Amortisation of leased assets is provided using the straight-line method over the term of the 
respective lease or the useful life of the asset, whichever period is less. Periodic maintenance  
and inspection costs are depreciated until the next similar maintenance takes place.

The useful life and depreciation methods are reviewed at least annually to ensure that the method 
and period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from 
items of property, plant and equipment. 

ix)   Trade and Other Accounts Receivable

Receivables are stated at face value less provision for doubtful amounts. Where the time value  
of money is material, receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method 
less any allowance for impairment. A provision for impairment is made when there is objective 
evidence (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor)  
that the Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the original terms of  
the invoice. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

x)   Inventories

Inventories, including work-in-process are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, after 
provision for slow-moving and obsolete items. Net realisable value is the selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the costs of making the sale. Cost of purchased goods, including crude 
oil, is determined primarily using the FIFO method. The acquisition cost of own produced inventory 
consists of direct materials, direct wages and the appropriate portion of production overhead 
expenses including royalty but excludes borrowing costs. Unrealisable inventory is fully written off.

xi)   Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost (or the carrying value of the assets 
determined as at 1 May 1992) less accumulated depreciation, depletion and accumulated 
impairment loss. When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation  
are eliminated from the accounts and any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is included  
in the consolidated income statement.

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price, including import 
duties and non-refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset 
to its working condition and location for its intended use, such as borrowing costs. Estimated 
decommissioning and site restoration costs are capitalized either upon initial recognition or, 
if decision on decommissioning is made subsequently, at the time of the decision. Changes  
in estimates thereof adjust the carrying amount of assets. Expenditures incurred after the property, 
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance and overhead 
costs (except for periodic maintenance and inspection costs), are normally charged to income 
in the period in which the costs are incurred. Periodic maintenance and inspection costs are 
capitalized as a separate component of the related assets.

Construction in progress represents plant and properties under construction and is stated at cost. 
This includes cost of construction, plant and equipment and other direct costs. Construction 
in progress is not depreciated until such time as the relevant asset is available for use. 

Land owned at the date of incorporation has been stated at the values attributed to it in the 
legislation incorporating the Company. These values are treated as cost. Land is carried at cost 
less any impairment provisions. Land is not depreciated.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 Years

Software 3 – 5

Buildings 30 – 40

Plant and machinery   8 – 20

Other fixed assets 4 – 8
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to reflect the current best estimate. The amount of the provision is the present value of the risk 
adjusted expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation, determined using the 
estimated risk free interest rate as discount rate. Where discounting is used, the carrying amount 
of provision increases in each period to reflect the unwinding of the discount by the passage  
of time. This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

Provision for Redundancy

The employees of the Group are eligible, immediately upon termination due organizational changes, 
for redundancy payment pursuant to the Slovak law and the terms of the Collective Agreement 
between the Company and its employees. The amount of such a liability is recorded as a provision 
for liabilities and charges in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet when the workforce 
reduction program is defined, announced and the conditions for its implementation are met.

Provision for Environmental Expenditures 

Liabilities for environmental costs are recognised when environmental clean-ups are probable 
and the associated costs can be reliably estimated. Generally, the timing of these provisions 
coincides with the commitment to a formal plan of action or, if earlier, on divestment or  
on closure of inactive sites. The amount recognised is the best estimate of the expenditure  
required. Where the liability will not be settled for a number of years, the amount recognised  
is the present value of the estimated future expenditure. 

Provision for Retirement Benefits

Pension plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, 
usually as a function of one or more factors such as age, years of service or compensation.  
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions  
and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the scheme does 
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods.

Unfunded defined benefit pension plan

According to the agreement with the Trade Unions for 2007-2009 the Group is obliged, based  
on the number of years in service, to pay its employees on retirement or disability a multiple  
of their average monthly salary up to 5 average salaries and in case of disability a multiple of their 
average monthly salary up to 8 average salaries. The minimum requirement of the Labour Code  
of one-month average salary payment on retirement is included in the above multiples. 

xiv)  Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when annual 
impairment testing for an asset is required or whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 
income statement for items of property, plant and equipment and intangibles carried at cost.  
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
The fair value is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction 
while value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from 
the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. Recoverable 
amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if this is not practicable, for the cash-generating 
unit. Impairment losses are reviewed annually and, where the recoverable amount of an asset  
has changed, are increased or written back, fully or partially, as required.

Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined 
for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group  
of cash-generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount  
of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount  
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, 
an impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed  
in future periods. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.

xv)  Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net 
of issue costs associated with the borrowing. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium 
on settlement. Gains and losses are recognised in net in the income statement when the liabilities 
are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process, except to the extent they are 
capitalized as borrowing costs.

xvi)  Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event and it is probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Bonus plans

A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonus plans is divided into short-term and long-
term. The short-term portion of the bonus is paid out after the evaluation of the performance  
in the given year and is recognised in Other current liabilities. The payment of the long-term  
portion is deferred after the third year of the given year including the given year and recognised  
in Other non-current liabilities.

Liabilities for bonus plans are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Other

The Group also pays certain work and life jubilees benefits and disability benefits. 

The liability in respect of work and life jubilees benefits plan is the present value of the work and 
life jubilees benefit obligation at the balance sheet date, together with adjustments for actuarial 
gains/losses and past service cost. The work and life jubilees benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the 
work and life jubilees benefit obligation is determined by the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates of government securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms  
of the related liability. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial  
assumptions are charged or credited to the income statement when incurred. Amendments  
to work and life jubilees benefit plan are charged or credited to the income statement over  
the average remaining service lives of the related employees. 

xvii)  Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Group receives free emission rights as a result of the European Emission Trading Schemes. 
The rights are received on an annual basis and in return the Group is required to remit rights equal 
to its actual emissions. The Group has adopted a net liability approach to the emission rights 
granted. Therefore, a provision is only recognised when actual emissions exceed the emission 
rights granted. Where emission rights are purchased from third parties, they are recorded at cost, 
and treated as a reimbursement right.

xviii)  Share-based Payment Transactions

Certain employees (including directors and managers) of the Group receive remuneration 
dependent on the parent company’s MOL Nyrt. share price. The cost of these cash-settled 
transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using the binomial model. This fair 
value is expensed over the vesting period with recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability 
is remeasured at each balance sheet date up to and including the settlement date to fair value  
with changes therein recognised in the income statement.

The same or similar liability has been included in the agreements with the Trade Unions since 1992. 
The Group has created expectations on the part of its employees that it will continue to provide the 
benefits and it is the management’s judgement that it is not realistic for Group to cease providing 
them. 

The liability in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date, together with adjustments for actuarial gains/losses and past 
service cost. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined 
by the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government securities which have 
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are charged or credited to the income statement when incurred. Amendments  
to pension plans are charged or credited to the income statement over the average remaining 
service lives of the related employees. 

Defined contribution pension plans

The Group contributes to the government and private defined contribution pension plans. 

The Group makes contributions to the Government’s health, retirement benefit and unemployment 
schemes at the statutory rates in force during the year, based on gross salary payments. 
Throughout the year, the Group made contributions amounting to 35.2% (2006: 35.2%) of gross 
salaries up to a monthly salary between SKK 26 thousand to SKK 52 thousand until 30 June 
2007, and between SKK 28 thousand to SKK 56 thousand after this date (until 30 June 2006:  
SKK 24 thousand to SKK 47 thousand, and after this date SKK 26 thousand to SKK 52 thousand), 
to such schemes, together with contributions by employees of a further 13.4% (2006: 13.4%). 
The cost of the contributions made by the Group is charged to the income statement in the same 
period as the related salary cost.

In addition, with respect to employees who have chosen to participate in a supplementary pension 
scheme, the Group makes contributions to the supplementary scheme amounting up to 3.5% 
(2006: 3%) from the total of monthly tariff wage plus compensatory wage of an employee.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the 
normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for 
these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed 
to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan 
without a possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made 
to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet 
date are discounted to the present value. 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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fair valuation reserve

The fair valuation reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial instruments.

xxii)  Dividends

Dividends are recorded in the year in which they are approved by the shareholders’ meeting.

xxiii)  Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with a transaction 
will flow to the enterprise and the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. Sales are 
recognised net of VAT, excise tax and discounts when delivery of goods or rendering of the service 
has taken place and transfer of risks and rewards has been completed. 

Interest is recognised on a time-proportionate basis that reflects the effective yield on  
the related asset. Dividends due are recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment 
is established. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting  
are reflected in income in the period the change occurs. 

xxiv)  Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of  
a qualifying asset are capitalized. Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities 
to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred. 
Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are ready for their intended use. Borrowing costs 
include interest charges and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds, 
including exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings used to finance these 
projects to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. 

xxv)  Income Taxes

The income tax charge consists of current and deferred taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated using 
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using the tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary 
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities 
and deferred tax assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities.

xix)  Leases

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental  
to ownership of the leased item, are capitalized at the inception of the lease at the fair value  
of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease 
payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges 
are charged directly to the income statement. Capitalized leased assets are depreciated over  
the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating a finance lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 
over the lease term on the same bases as the lease income. Leases where the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

xx)  Government Grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the 
grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates 
to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match the grant  
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to 
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the income 
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

xxi)  Reserves

Reserves shown in the consolidated financial statements do not represent the distributable 
reserves for dividend purposes. 

Retained earnings

Reserves for dividend purposes are determined based on the standalone financial statements  
of the parent company. Retained earnings comprise a Legal Reserve Fund set up in accordance 
with the Slovak legislation to cover potential future losses. The Legal Reserve Fund is not 
distributable. 

translation reserve

The translation reserve represents translation differences arising on consolidation of financial 
statements of foreign entities. Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that, in substance, 
forms part of the company’s net investment in a foreign entity are classified as equity  
in the consolidated financial statements until the disposal of the net investment. Upon disposal 
of the corresponding assets, the cumulative revaluation or translation reserves are recognised  
as income or expenses in the same period in which the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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xxvi)  Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the reporting currency by applying to the foreign 
currency amount the exchange rate between the reporting currency and the foreign currency 
at the date of the transaction. Exchange rate differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items at rates different from those at which they were initially recorded during the periods are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency 
rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign 
exchange differences on trade receivables and payables are included in operating profit, while 
foreign exchange differences on borrowings are recorded as financial income or expense.

Financial statements of foreign entities are translated at year-end exchange rates with respect 
to the balance sheet and at the weighted average exchange rates for the year with respect to 
the income statement. All resulting translation differences are included in the translation reserve 
of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity 
relating to that particular foreign operation shall be recognised in the income statement.

xxvii)  Earnings Per Share 

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary 
shareholders using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year after 
deduction of the average number of treasury shares held over the period. There are no dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. All the shares bear the same rights.

xxviii)  Segmental Disclosure

For management purposes the Group is organized into three major operating business units: 
Refining and Marketing, Petrochemicals, and Corporate and Other. The business units are the basis 
upon which the Group reports its primary segment information. Geographical segments provide 
products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks and returns 
that are different from those of components operating in other economic environments.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of 
unused tax credits and tax losses when it is probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized, except:

 – where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises 
  from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business  
  combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit  
  nor taxable profit or loss; and

 – in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
  associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only  
  to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
  future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences  
  can be utilized.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

 – where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill  
  or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
  of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

 – in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
  associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary  
  differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not  
  reverse in the foreseeable future.

At each balance sheet date, the Group re-assesses unrecognised deferred tax assets and the 
carrying amount of deferred tax assets. The Group recognises a previously unrecognised deferred 
tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred 
tax asset to be recovered. The Group conversely reduces the carrying amount of a deferred  
tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available  
to allow the benefit of part or all of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

Deferred tax is charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that 
are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly to equity, including  
an adjustment to the opening balance of reserves resulting from a change in accounting  
policy that is applied retrospectively.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



68 Slovnaft annUal REPoRt 2007 69ConSolIDatED fInanCIal StatEMEntS

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

Sources of estimate uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and the Notes thereto. 
Although these estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of current events  
and actions, actual results may defer from these estimates. These are detailed in the respective 
notes, however, the most significant estimates relate to the following:

Calculation of fair values of financial instruments

Fair valuation of financial instruments reflects management’s estimate on the future trend 
of key drivers of such values, including, but not limited to yield curves, foreign exchange 
and risk-free interest rates. 

Quantification and timing of environmental liabilities

Management estimates the future cash outflow associated with environmental and 
decommissioning liabilities using comparative prices, analogies to previous similar 
work and other assumptions. Furthermore, the timing of these cash-flows reflects 
managements’ current assessment of priorities, technical capabilities and the urgency of 
such obligations. Consequently, the carrying amount of these liabilities of SKK 1,067 million  
and SKK 1,108 million as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 respectively (see Note 16)  
is exposed to uncertainty.

Impairment of non-current assets

The impairment calculation requires an estimate of the ‘value in use’ of the cash-generating 
units. Such value is measured based on discounted projected cash flows. The most 
significant variables in determining cash flows are discount rates, terminal values,  
the period for which cash flow projections are made, as well as the assumptions  
and estimates used to determine the cash inflows and outflows. Impairment recorded 
in the consolidated income statement amounts to SKK 30 million and SKK 69 million  
in 2007 and 2006, respectively. 

Actuarial estimates applied for calculation of retirement benefit obligations

The cost of defined benefit plans is determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
valuation involves making assumptions about discount rates, future salary increases  
and mortality or fluctuation rates. Due to the long-term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Provision for long-term employee benefits  
amounts to SKK 205 million and SKK 192 million as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. Provision for redundancy amounts to SKK 14 million and SKK 20 million  
as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 16).

xxix)  Contingencies

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements unless they 
are acquired in a business combination. They are disclosed in the Notes unless the possibility 
of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

Critical judgements in applying the accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies which are described above, management has 
made certain judgements that have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements (apart from those involving estimates, which are dealt with below). These are detailed 
in the respective notes, however, the most significant judgements relate to the following:

Environmental provisions

Regulations, especially environmental legislation does not exactly specify the extent  
of remediation work required or the technology to be applied. Management uses its 
previous experience and its own interpretation of the respective legislation to determine  
the scope of environmental provision. The environmental provision is SKK 1,067 million  
and SKK 1,108 million as at 31 December 2007 and 2006, respectively (see Note 16).

Outcome of certain litigations

The Group is party to a number of litigations, proceedings and civil actions arising in the  
ordinary course of business. Management uses its own judgement to assess the most 
likely outcome of these and a provision is recognised on a consistent basis (see Note 16 
and 27).

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2 Intangible assets

Software is being amortised evenly over its useful economic life of max. 5 years

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of MOL-Slovensko spol. s r.o. Following the impairment review 
of the recoverable amount of the related cash generating unit the carrying amount of goodwill  
was fully impaired in 2004. 

The Group has no intangible assets with an indefinite useful life.

3 Property, plant and equipment

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Software

SKK 
millions

Goodwill

SKK 
millions

Other 
intangible 

assets 
and rights

SKK 
millions

Total

SKK 
millions

At 1 January 2006

Gross book value 858 335 760 1,953

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (515) (335) (389) (1,239)

Net book value 343 – 371 714

Year ended 31 December 2006

Opening net book value 343 – 371 714

 - additions 161 – 3 164

 - amortisation for the year (98) – (96) (194)

 - impairment (1) – – (1)

 - disposals (6) – – (6)

 - exchange adjustment (1) – – (1)

 - sale of subsidiaries (4) – – (4)

Closing net book value 394 – 278 672

At 31 December 2006

Gross book value 943 335 758 2,036

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (549) (335) (480) (1,364)

Net book value 394 – 278 672

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book value 394 – 278 672

 - additions 147 – 5 152

 - amortisation for the year (113) – (97) (210)

 - disposals – – 1 1

Closing net book value 428 – 187 615

At 31 December 2007

Gross book value 1,087 335 764 2,186

Accumulated amortisation and impairment (659) (335) (577) (1,571)

Net book value 428 – 187 615

Land and
 building

SKK 
millions

Machinery 

and

equipment

SKK 
millions

Other

machinery 

and

equipment

SKK 
millions

Construc-

tion in

progress

SKK 
millions

Total

SKK 
millions

At 1 January 2006

Gross book value 29,256 44,676 830 1,693 76,455

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (8,768) (26,734) (621) (31) (36,154)

Net book value 20,488 17,942 209 1,662 40,301

Year ended 31 December 2006

Opening net book value 20,488 17,942 209 1,662 40,301

- additions – 25 22 4,151 4,198

- depreciation for the year (661) (2,484) (21) – (3,166)

- impairment (151) (40) – (1) (192)

- reversal of impairment 113 11 – – 124

- disposals (122) (10) (3) (3) (138)

- exchange differences (25) (3) – – (28)

- transfer 378 3,304 (116) (3,566) –

- sale of subsidiaries (637) (126) (3) (1) (767)

Closing net book value 19,383 18,619 88 2,242 40,332

At 31 December 2006

Gross book value 28,441 47,406 684 2,274 78,805

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (9,058) (28,787) (596) (32) (38,473)

Net book value 19,383 18,619 88 2,242 40,332

Year ended 31 December 2007

Opening net book value 19,383 18,619 88 2,242 40,332

- additions – 4 – 2,582 2,586

- depreciation for the year (672) (2,669) (30) – (3,371)

- impairment (79) (12) – (4) (95)

- reversal of impairment 53 2 – 10 65

- disposals (58) (8) – (13) (79)

- transfer 394 1,679 25 (2,098) –

Closing net book value 19,021 17,615 83 2,719 39,438

At 31 December 2007

Gross book value 28,492 48,541 659 2,732 80,424

Accumulated depreciation and impairment (9,471) (30,926) (576) (13) (40,986)

Net book value 19,021 17,615 83 2,719 39,438
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4  Investments in consolidated companies and joint ventures 

i)   Subsidiaries

Based on regular meeting of shareholders of Slovnaft Polska SA, held on 24 August 2007,  
the Company increased share capital of the company by PLN 30 million which represents  
SKK equivalent of 264 million. This increase represents 333 shares with nominal value  
of PLN 3 thousand per share at emission rate of PLN 90 thousand per share.

In accordance with regular meeting of shareholders of SWS spol. s r.o. held on 8 June 2007,  
the Company decreased the share capital of SWS spol. s r.o. by SKK 36 million at keeping 
its share in this company. The decrease of the share capital was settled in cash.

The activities of the undertakings shown above are for the most part connected with the principal 
activity of the Group. All subsidiaries are not listed. 

Disposals

Slovnaft Ukrajina divestment

On 29 August 2007 the Company signed a sale agreement with Wigro Trade Ukrajina  
on the sale of its 89% ownership interest in Slovnaft Ukrajina, s.r.o. The book value of net assets  
of the investment sold was nil and therefore the proceeds from the sale of SKK 120 thousand 
equals to the profit on the sale from this transaction. 

Government grants

Property, plant and equipment includes assets with the carrying value of SKK 630 million  
(31 December 2006: SKK 683 million) financed from the state grants (see Note 17). Part of these 
assets with the carrying value of SKK 215 million (31 December 2006: SKK 246 million) are under 
construction and the rest are currently being used for commercial purposes. All of these assets  
were designed and constructed to serve State Authorities, including military forces, in state 
emergencies. In such situations title to these assets may be restricted.

Impairment losses

Impairment losses are recognised for non performing petrol stations and refinery assets.  
The impairment losses were recognised when the carrying amount exceeded the recoverable 
amount being the value in use.

Impairment for property, plant and equipment was reversed for the increase in the value in use 
mainly of the petrol stations’ assets as a result of an improved efficiency of the retail network.

Impairment of non-current assets

Impairment by segments:

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Refining and Marketing segment

Petrol stations 43 161

Refinery assets 52 2

Petrochemicals – 30

Total 95 193

Reversal of impairment – Refining and Marketing segment (63) (124)

Reversal of impairment – Corporate and Other (2) –

Total net impairment 30 69

Company name Country Range of activity

2007 2006

Refining and Marketing

Apollo Oil Rohstoffhandels GmbH 
(in liquidation) Austria Crude oil trading 67% 67%

Slovnaft Polska, SA Poland Wholesale and retail 100% 100%

MOL-Slovensko spol. s r.o. Slovakia Wholesale and retail 100% 100%

SLOVNAFT TRANS a.s. Slovakia Transport 100% 100%

SLOVNAFT VÚRUP, a.s. Slovakia Research & development 100% 100%

Zväz pre skladovanie zásob, a.s. Slovakia Wholesale and retail, storage 100% 100%

APOLLO Rafinéria, s.r.o. Slovakia Wholesale and retail 100% 100%

Slovnaft Ukrajina, s.r.o. Ukraine Wholesale trade sold 89%

Ukrslovnaft, s.r.o. Ukraine Retail trade sold 85%

SWS spol. s r.o. Slovakia Transport support services 51% 51%

Petrochemicals

Slovnaft Petrochemicals, s.r.o. Slovakia Petrochemical production 
and trading 100% 100%

Corporate and Other

SLOVNAFT MONTÁŽE  A OPRAVY a.s. Slovakia Repairs & maintenance 100% 100%

Ownership
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5  Investments in associated companies

6  available-for-sale financial assets

Investment in TVK Nyrt. is valued in fair value based on the quoted market price. Other investments 
are not listed and are valued at acquisition cost less potential impairment loss.

Ukrslovnaft divestment

On 29 August 2007 the Company signed a sale agreement with Wigro Trade Ukrajina on the sale 
of its 85% ownership interest in Ukrslovnaft, s.r.o. The book value of net assets of the investment 
sold was nil and therefore the proceeds from the sale of SKK 7,109 thousand equals to the profit 
on the sale from this transaction. 

ii)   Joint ventures
 

Based on the share purchase agreement and shareholders agreement the Group acquired a 25% 
+ 1 share stake in MEROCO, a.s. The assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of MEROCO, a.s. 
were immaterial at the date of acquisition and did not differ materially from their book values.  
In 2007 the Group paid up the whole unpaid part of the share capital in the amount of SKK  
29 million.

Following the contractual arrangements with the other shareholder the management decided  
to treat this investment as a joint venture. The share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of this jointly controlled entity, which are included in these consolidated financial statements,  
are as follows:

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Company name Country Range of activity Ownership

2007 2006

Refining and Marketing

MEROCO, a. s. Slovakia Wholesale and retail 25% 25%

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Current assets 63 11

Non-current assets 169 28

Total assets 232 39

Current liabilities 85 10

Non-current liabilities 111 18

Total liabilities 196 28

Net assets 36 11

Net sales 19 –

Cost of sales (13) –

Other expenses (5) (3)

Financial (expense) / income, net (4) –

Profit before income tax (3) (3)

Income tax expense – –

Net profit / (loss) (3) (3)

Company name Country Range of activity

2007 2006 2007 2006

Refining and Marketing

Messer Slovnaft s.r.o. Slovakia Production 
of technical gases 49.00% 49.00% 118 93

Corporate and Other

Chémia Bratislava a.s.
(in liquidation) Slovakia Services 48.97% 48.97% 3 4

Total 121 97

Net book value 
of investment

Ownership

Company name Country Range of activity

2007 2006 2007 2006

Non-current

TVK Nyrt. Hungary Petrochemical pro-
duction and trading 8.07% 8.07% 1,919 1,438

Total 1,919 1,438

Current

APOLLO zdravotná 
poisťovňa, a.s. Slovakia Health Insurance sold 51.00% – 101

Incheba, a. s. Slovakia Organizing 
of exhibitions 0.59% 0.59% 1 1

THEBEN a. s. Slovakia Editing of 
publications 7.71% 7.71% – –

SKB, a. s. Slovakia Financial services 6.85% 6.85% – –

Total 1 102

Total available-for-
sale financial assets 

 1,920 1,540

Net book value 
of investment

Ownership

SKK millions

SKK millions
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7  other non-current assets

Movements in the provision to Other non-current assets were as follows:

APOLLO zdravotná poisťovňa, a.s. – Health Insurance Company (51% ownership) was not 
consolidated in the previous years due to strong regulations over the health care sector in the 
Slovak Republic which prevented the Company from exercising the control. Since no financial 
benefit was expected from the investment its carrying value was fully impaired. During 2005 
following the changes in the legislation it was transformed into a joint stock company. Before 
the transformation in June 2005 the Company had entered into an agreement of future sale of  
the shares of the transformed entity. The Company has also entered into call and put options 
with the same strike price related to all the shares of the transformed entity. As a result of this 
contractual arrangement the Company did not posses control over the entity and it was excluded 
from the consolidation. In December 2006 the Company entered into a share sale agreement.  
The sale transaction became legally valid after Antimonopoly Office approval in May 2007. 

The selling price set in the agreement was used as the fair value for the revaluation of the shares 
in these consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2006. Net profit from the sale 
transaction of SKK 101 million is included in Finance revenues in 2007.

According to the share purchase agreement between Hermész Kft. and the Company signed  
on 8 December 2004, Hermész Kft. sold its 8.02% stake in TVK Nyrt. to the Company. TVK Nyrt.  
is fully consolidated subsidiary of MOL Nyrt. Hermész Kft. also entered into call and put options 
with the same strike price. The options are exercisable only upon the occurrence of restricted 
triggering events of low probability within the period ended 31 December 2008. Due to these 
restrictive conditions the fair value of the options was determined to be nil on the balance sheet 
date. The ownership interest of the Company in TVK Nyrt increased in 2006 to 8.07% due to  
the withdrawal of employees’ shares.

Development of Available-for-sale financial assets:

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Acquisition 
cost

SKK millions

Revaluation 
to fair value

SKK millions

Impairment

SKK millions

Net book 
value

SKK millions

At 1 January 2006 1,500 182 (139) 1,543

Additions 18 – – 18

Disposals (70) – 52 (18)

Revaluation to fair value – (40) – (40)

Reversal of impairment – – 37 37

At 31 December 2006 1,448 142 (50) 1,540

Disposals (37) (64) – (101)

Revaluation to fair value – 481 – 481

At 31 December 2007 1,411 559 (50) 1,920

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Long-term receivables 2 –

Other non-current financial assets 2 –

Advance payments for assets under construction 206 16

Other long-term advances 16 23

Other non-current non-financial assets 222 39

Total other non-current assets 224 39

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

At 1 January 185 193

Amounts written off (185) –

Acquisition / (sale) of subsidiaries – (8)

At 31 December – 185

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Other non-current financial assets 2 185

Provision to other non-current financial assets – (185)

Total non-current financial assets 2 –
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10 other current assets

The balance as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 contains loans granted to MOL Nyrt. provided 
partly in USD with the interest rate of 1M LIBOR – 0.17% p.a., party in EUR with the interest rate  
of 1M EURIBOR – 0.14% p.a. and partly in SKK with the interest rate of 1M BRIBOR – 0.20% p.a.

Movements in the Provision to other current financial assets were as follows:

8  Inventories

According to Polish legislation, the subsidiary Slovnaft Polska, SA as an importer of liquid fuels 
is required to maintain obligatory reserves of inventories. At 31 December 2007 these amounted 
to 147,994 m3 of liquid fuels with the carrying value of SKK 2,138 million (as at 31 December 2006: 
117,138 m3, SKK 1,579 million).

9  trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 days’ terms.

Movements in the Provision for doubtful trade receivables were as follows:

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

At cost

2007
SKK 

millions

At lower of 
cost or net 
realisable 

value
2007
SKK 

millions

At cost

2006
SKK 

millions

At lower of 
cost or net 
realisable 

value
2006
SKK 

millions

Raw materials 780 743 981 943

Purchased crude oil 969 969 803 803

Work in progress 
and semi-finished goods 2,575 2,574 2,592 2,592

Finished goods 4,108 4,058 2,797 2,757

Goods for resale 1,340 1,340 1,384 1,384

Total inventories 9,772 9,684 8,557 8,479

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Trade receivables 8,896 7,835

Provision for doubtful trade receivables (180) (204)

Total trade receivables 8,716 7,631

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Other current financial assets 5,229 4,131

Provision to other current financial assets (3) (22)

Total 5,226 4,109

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

At 1 January 22 22

Additions / Reversal 1 –

Amounts written off (20) –

At 31 December 3 22
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

At 1 January 204 334

Additions / Reversal 22 53

Use due to financial settlement of receivables (23) (7) 

Amounts written off (22) (69)

Acquisition / (sale) of subsidiaries – (103)

Currency differences (1) (4)

At 31 December 180 204

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Transferred receivables 2,434 1,655

Loans granted to MOL Nyrt. 2,785 2,443

Other 7 11

Other current financial assets 5,226 4,109

Receivables from VAT, duties and other taxes 2,464 1,677

Prepaid excise taxes 184 198

Prepaid expenses 48 42

Advances 58 14

Other current non-financial assets 2,754 1,931

Total other current assets 7,980 6,040
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13 Reserves

Retained earnings comprise the Legal Reserve Fund of SKK 4,125 million (31 December 2006:  
SKK 4,125 million). This has been set up in accordance with the Slovak legislation to cover  
potential future losses and is not distributable. 

Distributable reserves

The total amount of reserves legally available for distribution based on the standalone financial 
statements of SLOVNAFT, a.s. is SKK 9,823 million and SKK 10,933 million as at 31 December  
2007 and 2006, respectively.

Dividends

The dividend approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting on 20 April 2007  
in respect of 2006 was SKK 7,487 million, equivalent to SKK 363 per share. No dividends for  
the year 2007 were proposed or approved by the date of these consolidated financial 
statements.

14 long-term debt, net of current portion

MEROCO, a.s. entered into secured long-term bank loans in SKK and EUR for financing  
of specific capital expenditure projects which are secured by assets financed from the loans  
(see Note 27). The amounts reflect proportion corresponding to the Group’s share in the company.

11 Cash and cash equivalents

Interest rates on current bank accounts range from 1.89% to 5.87% (2006: 1.55% to 5.80%)  
and those on short-term bank deposits from 1.85% to 6.21% (2006: 1.65% to 5.90%). 

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
the following:

12 Share capital

The Company’s authorised share capital is 20,625,229 ordinary shares (31 December 2006: 
20,625,229) with a par value of SKK 1,000 each. All of these shares are issued and fully paid.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Cash at bank – SKK 403 1,013

Cash at bank – EUR 218 326

Cash at bank – USD 86 208

Cash at bank – GBP – 146

Cash at bank – PLN 37 26

Cash at bank – other currencies 13 5

Cash on hand – SKK 1 1

Cash on hand – EUR 1 –

Cash on hand – other currencies 1 –

Short-term bank deposits – SKK 1,368 1,292

Short-term bank deposits – EUR 97 30

Short-term bank deposits – USD 34 36

Short-term bank deposits – PLN 213 1

Other cash equivalents 1 1

Total cash and cash equivalents 2,473 3,085

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

2005
SKK millions

Cash at bank 757 1,724 1,013

Cash on hand 3 1 63

Short-term bank deposits 1,712 1,359 665

Other cash equivalents 1 1 131

Total 2,473 3,085 1,872

Interest rate Maturity
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

Secured bank loan in EUR 6M EURIBOR + 1.75% p.a. 2014 120 15

Secured bank loan in SKK 6M BRIBOR + 1.00% p.a. 2008 18 –

Secured bank loan in SKK 6M BRIBOR + 0.75% p.a. 2008 8 5

Total 146 20

Less current portion 
of long-term debt (35) (2)

Total long-term debt, 
net of current portion 111 18
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Environmental Provision

As at 31 December 2007 the Group had 209 petrol stations and several warehousing capacities  
in the Slovak Republic. Some of these are not fully compliant with the current or future environmental 
legislation and environmental policy of the Group, including containment of evaporative losses  
on filling of the station tanks, treatment of effluent, and protection of soil and groundwater.  
The Group recognised environmental provisions of SKK 261 million (31 December 2006:  
SKK 342 million) to eliminate the deficiencies stated above. The utilization of the provision related  
to petrol stations is expected to be during 2008 (for part of the provision related to liquidation 
of constructional and technological part of the unsound petrol stations), and during 
2008 – 2011 (part of provision related to remediation of soil and groundwater under liquidated 
petrol stations). The provision related to non-compliant warehousing capacities is expected  
to be used in the years 2008 – 2015. 

In accordance with the Group policies a provision for the estimated costs of remediation of past 
environmental damage, primarily soil and groundwater contamination under the refinery site 
was recognised initially as at 31 December 2004. The initial provision was made on the basis of 
assessments prepared by the Company’s internal environmental audit team and it was determined 
on the basis of existing technology at current prices by calculating risk-weighted cash flows 
discounted using estimated risk-free real interest rates. 

As at 31 December 2006 the provision was reassessed based on the updated amount  
of the contaminated soil and groundwater and on the basis of assessments prepared by  
the external environmental audit team. As the result of this revision the provision was increased  
by SKK 277 million and adjusted for the time value of money in the amount of SKK 24 million. 

Based on the revision as at 31 December 2007, no additional adjustment was needed and therefore 
the provision was increased only for the time value of money in the amount of SKK 40 million.

The present value of liability related to the provision amounted as at 31 December 2007  
to SKK 806 million (31 December 2006: SKK 766 million). The utilization of this provision  
is expected to be during the years 2010 – 2019.

Based on the “Report on emission of greenhouse gases CO
2 to the air from the SLOVNAFT 

refinery for the year 2007” it was issued 2,250,495 tons of CO2 emissions during 2007 
(2006: 2,190,190 tons). In accordance with the Slovak National Allocation Plan the Company  
was allocated 2,290,555 quotas for emission of greenhouse gases for the year 2007. Since these 
quotas did fully cover the emissions issued by the Company, the Company did not recognise  
any provision as at 31 December 2007 and 2006. 

The closing amount of the environmental provisions as at 31 December 2007 is SKK 1,067 million 
(31 December 2006: SKK 1,108 million).

15 Short-term debt including current portion 
  of long-term debt

16 Provisions for liabilities and charges

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Interest rate
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

Unsecured bank loans in EUR 1M LIBOR + 0.175% p.a. – 85

Unsecured bank loans in PLN 1M WIBOR + 0.35% p.a. – 38

Loans received from MOL Nyrt. in SKK 1M BRIBOR + 0.37% p.a. 8 317

Loans received from MOL Nyrt. in PLN 1M WIBOR + 0.37% p.a. 795 607

Total short-term debt 803 1,047

Current portion of long-term debt 35 2

Total short-term debt including 
current portion of long-term debt 838 1,049

Environ-
mental

SKK 
millions

Redun-
dancy

SKK 
millions

Retire-
ment 

benefits
SKK 

millions

Jubilee 
benefits

SKK 
millions

Legal 
claims

SKK 
millions

Other

 SKK 
millions

Total

 SKK 
millions 

Balance at 31 December 2005 992 100 157 29 – 42 1,320

Provision made during the year 
and revision of previous estimates 277 10 28 11 1 349 676

Unwinding of the discount 35 – 12 – – – 47

Provision utilised during the year (121) (90) (12) (3) – (41) (267)

Provision unused during the year (75) – (29) – – (1) (105)

Acquisition / (sale) of subsidiaries – – (1) – – – (1)

Balance at 31 December 2006 1,108 20 155 37 1 349 1,670

Provision made during the year 
and revision of previous estimates – – 32 3 – 1 36

Unwinding of the discount 49 – 10 – – – 59

Provision utilized during the year (83) (6) (8) (3) (1) (300) (401)

Provision unused during the year (7) – (13) (8) – – (28)

Balance at 31 December 2007 1,067 14 176 29 – 50 1,336

Current portion 
at 31 December 2006 151 7 – – 1 300 459

Non-current portion
at 31 December 2006 957 13 155 37 – 49 1,211

Current portion 
at 31 December 2007 98 7 17 4 – – 126

Non-current portion
at 31 December 2007 969 7 159 25 – 50 1,210
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The following table summarizes the components of net benefit expense recognised in the income 
statement as personnel expenses regarding Provision for Long-term Employee Retirement 
Benefits:

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

The principal actuarial assumptions reflect an approximately 2% difference between the discount 
rate and the future salary increase.

Other Provisions

The Abuse of Dominant Position Department of the Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak 
Republic notified the Company by its letter dated 21 November 2005 of the commencement  
of Administrative proceeding against the Company due to a possible breach of the provisions  
of Act No. 136/2001 Coll. on Economic Competition. These administrative proceedings involved  
a review of the price policy of the Company with respect to petrol and diesel sales. 

On 22 December 2006 the Abuse of Dominant Position Department of the Antimonopoly Office 
of the Slovak Republic issued the first instance decision stating that the Company had abused  
the dominant position in the form of discrimination and the Department imposed a penalty  
of SKK 300 million. On 10 January 2007 the Company filed an appeal against the first instance 
decision to the Office Council and provided for the penalty in the full amount as at 31 December 
2006.

On 7 December 2007 the Council of the Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak Republic took  
the final decision and confirmed that the Company is obliged to pay penalty amounting  
to SKK 300 million. Based on this decision the Company reclassified the penalty from Other 
provisions to Other liabilities.

Provision for Redundancy

In 2007 the Group continued to implement the restructuring plan. The Group started to implement 
the restructuring plan during 2003. The entire restructuring process will result in the termination  
of employment before the normal retirement date of up to 1,700 employees. The Group has 
a detailed formal plan for the termination and material changes to the plan are not likely.  
The restructuring process is divided into several phases. The currently implemented phase  
should be completed by 2008. A provision of SKK 14 million (31 December 2006: SKK 20 million) 
for the net present value of future redundancy payments and related tax and contributions has 
been recognised in these financial statements.

Provision for Retirement and Jubilee Benefits

As at 31 December 2007 the Group has recognised a provision for retirement benefits  
of SKK 176 million (31 December 2006: SKK 155 million) to cover its estimated obligation regarding 
future retirement benefits payable to current employees expected to retire from the Group  
entities. The Group operates benefit schemes that provide a lump sum benefit to all employees  
at the time of their retirement. The Group provides a maximum of up to 5 months of the final  
salary depending on the length of the service period on case of retirement and up to 8 months  
on case of becoming incapacitated. 

None of these plans have separately administered funds; therefore there are no plan assets.  
The amount of the provision has been determined using the projected unit credit method, based 
on financial and actuarial variables and assumptions that reflect relevant official statistical data  
and are in line with those incorporated in the business plan of the Group. 

 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Past service cost 17 17

Current service cost 18 13

Provision used during the year (11) (15)

Actuarial gains and (losses) (21) (20)

Total (Note 20) 3 (5)

Discount rate 5.5% p.a. in 2008, and from 5.2% to 6.5% p.a. thereafter 

Future salary increases 3.5% p.a. in 2008, and from 3.2% to 4.5% p.a. thereafter

Mortality rates (male) 0.07 – 2.39 

Mortality rates (female) 0.03 – 0.84

Retirement benefits Jubilee benefits

2007
SKK 

millions

2006
SKK 

millions

2007
SKK 

millions

2006
SKK 

millions

Present value of total defined benefit obligation 
at the beginning of the period 419 207 37 29

Past service cost not yet recognised 
at the beginning of the period 264 50 – –

Balance at the beginning of the period 155 157 37 29

Past service cost 17 17 – –

Current service cost 15 11 3 2

Unwinding of the discount 10 12 – –

Provision used during the period (8) (12) (3) (3)

Actuarial gains and (losses) (13) (29) (8) 9

Sale of subsidiaries – (1) – –

Balance at the end of the period 176 155 29 37

Past service cost not yet recognised 
at the end of the period

258 264 – –

Present value of total defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the period 434 419 29 37
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The social fund payable is included in the other financial liabilities. The creation and use of the social  
fund during the period are shown in the table below:

19 other operating income

20 Personnel expenses

17 Government grants and other non-current liabilities

Government grants were provided to finance certain Property, plant and equipment designed  
and constructed to serve State Authorities, including military forces, in a state of emergency  
(see Note 3).

18 other current liabilities

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Government grants: 

At 1 January 683 738

Amortisation for the period (Note 19) (53) (55)

At 31 December 630 683

Other non-current liabilities 25 14

Total government grants 
and other non-current liabilities

655 697

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

At 1 January 1 4

Creation expensed 191 27

Other creation 12 14

Use (163) (44)

At 31 December 41 1

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Exchange gain on customers and suppliers 
in foreign currencies, net 531 682

Profit from the sale of intangible and tangible assets 337 166

Income from sale of precious metals contained 
in fully used catalysts 162 186

Amortisation of government grants (Note 17) 53 55

Other 40 83

Total other operating income 1,123 1,172

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Other current financial liabilities:

Security deposit received from petrol station lessees 83 82

Financial guarantees received from holders of fleet cards 62 47

Liabilities to shareholders (dividends) 31 25

Other liabilities 50 12

Total other current financial liabilities 226 166

Other current non-financial liabilities:

Taxes, contributions payable 2,005 2,128

Customs fees payable 512 482

Amounts due to employees 312 342

Advances from customers 93 263

Social security 77 85

Other liabilities 300 –

Total other current non-financial liabilities 3,299 3,300

Total other current liabilities 3,525 3,466

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Wages and salaries 2,075 2,167

Social security 618 625

Other personnel expenses 415 328

Provision for retirement and jubilee benefits (Note 16) 3 (5)

Expenses of share-based payments (Note 32) 23 2

Total personnel expenses 3,134 3,117
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23 finance revenues and expenses

24 Income taxes

Total applicable income taxes reported in these consolidated financial statements for the years 
ended 31 December 2007 and 2006 include the following components:

The applicable corporate income tax rate on the taxable income of the companies of the Group 
was 19% both in 2007 and 2006. The Group’s current income tax is determined on the basis  
of taxable statutory profit of the individual companies comprising the Group.

21 value of services used

22 other operating expenses

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Transportation and storage expenses 2,138 2,130

Maintenance expenses 1,513 1,491

Commission fees paid 427 464

Services related to administration 348 279

Fire protection expenses 119 131

Catalysts liquidation 33 55

Costs of liquidation of idle tangible assets 10 102

Other 131 159

Total value of services used 4,719 4,811

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Current corporate income tax 1,607 1,262

Deferred corporate income tax 269 344

Total income tax expense 1,876 1,606

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Interest revenue 219 206

Dividends received – 11

Gain on the sale of available-for-sale financial assets 101 200

Net gain from derivatives – 12

Total finance revenues 320 429

Net foreign exchange loss (144) (387)

Interest expense on borrowings (45) (36)

Interest expense on provisions (Note 16) (59) (47)

Net loss from derivatives (19) –

Other finance costs (4) (5)

Total finance expenses (271) (475)

Total net finance revenues 49 (46)

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Rental including operating lease 430 513

Fines, penalties and other payable items 313 219

Insurance premium 228 269

Marketing costs 218 151

Environmental protection costs 195 155

Taxes and duties 164 178

Accounting, advisory and similar services fees 148 296

Cleaning costs and waste disposal 127 110

Security expenses 92 99

Loss on sale of receivables 87 24

Training expenses 46 40

Provision for doubtful receivables, write-offs of receivables (net) 13 39

Net (decrease) / increase in provisions (476) 341

Other operating expenses 187 337

Total other operating expenses 1,772 2,771
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The reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the theoretical amount that 
would arise using the standard tax rates is as follows:

25 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable  
to ordinary shareholders (net profit for the period less dividends on preference shares) by  
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 

There are no potential ordinary shares and therefore the diluted earnings per share are the same 
as the basic earnings per share.

The deferred tax balances as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 in these consolidated financial 
statements consist of the following items:

The deferred tax asset and liability is reflected in the consolidated balance sheets as follows:

Analysis of movements in net deferred tax asset / (liability) during the year was as follows:

The Group has tax losses which arose in some of its consolidated subsidiaries of SKK 31 million 
(2006: SKK 22 million). The Group has recognised deferred tax asset to cumulative tax losses 
in the amount of SKK 5 million as at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: SKK 84 million) that  
is available to offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. 
These losses can be utilised between 2008 and 2012.

Deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of losses which may not be used to offset 
taxable profits elsewhere in the Group. 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Balance sheet

Recognised 
in income 
statement

Recognised
directly 
in equity

2007
SKK 

millions

2006
SKK 

millions

2007
SKK 

millions

2006
SKK 

millions

2007
SKK 

millions

2006
SKK 

millions

Difference between tax and carrying 
values of property, plant and equipment (1,433) (1,231) (202) (400) – –

Revaluation of available-for-sale 
investments to fair value (106) (34) – – (72) 1

Unrealised gains on inter-group transfer (9) (8) (1) (10) – –

Provisions for liabilities and charges 243 249 (6) 11 – –

Write off of inventories 15 – 15 – – –

Statutory tax losses carried forward 13 84 (71) 78 – –

Write off of receivables 2 4 (2) (27) – –

Other 28 30 (2) 4 – –

Total (1,247) (906) (269) (344) (72) 1

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Deferred tax asset 12 84

Deferred tax liability (1,259) (990)

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) (1,247) (906)

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) at 1 January (906) (563)

Recognised in the income statement (269) (344)

Recognised directly in equity (72) 1

Net deferred tax asset / (liability) at 31 December (1,247) (906)

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Profit before tax 9,458 7,962

Tax at the applicable tax rate 19% (2006: 19%) 1,797 1,513

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 76 92

Effect of tax loss not assessable for tax release 1 4

Effect of utilization of prior year tax losses carried forward (1) (13)

Non-taxable income from associated companies – (5)

Others 3 15

Total income tax expense 1,876 1,606

Income

SKK millions

Weighted 
average number 

of shares

Earnings
 per share 

SKK

Basic Earnings Per Share 2006 6,357 20,625,229 308.2

Basic Earnings Per Share 2007 7,582 20,625,229 367.6
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Revenues, expenses and gains or losses from financial instruments

Managing risks of financial instruments

Following risks are related to financial instruments held:
i) Credit risk;
ii) Liquidity risk;
iii) Market risk, which includes:
 • Interest rate risk;
 • Foreign currency risk;
 • Other price risks. 

Financial risk management function is centralized in the MOL Group. All risks are integrated  
and measured at the MOL Group level using the Monte Carlo simulation. As a general approach, 
risk management considers the business as well-balanced integrated portfolio and does not  
hedge particular elements of the commodity exposure.

26 financial instruments

Financial instrument is cash, capital instrument of other party, any contract that gives rise to  
the right to receive or obligation to provide cash or other financial asset, or any contract that gives 
rise to the right or obligation to exchange financial assets and liabilities.

Book value of financial instruments:

As at 31 December 2007 and 2006 the Group does not report any active derivative contracts.

Fair value of financial instruments

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value based on market value. Available-for-
sale financial assets for which fair value cannot be reliably measured are valued at amortised cost 
decreased by impairment. 

Fair value of loans and receivables and financial liabilities valued at amortised cost does not 
significantly differ from its book value due to short time to its maturity and/or due to relation  
to floating interest rates.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

Other non-current financial assets 7 2 –

Cash and cash equivalents 11 2,473 3,085

Trade receivables 9 8,716 7,631

Other current financial assets 10 5,226 4,109

Loans and receivables 16,417 14,825

Available-for-sale financial assets 6 1,920 1,540

Long-term debt, net of current portion 14 111 18

Trade payables 12,081 10,218

Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt 15 838 1,049

Other current financial liabilities 18 226 166

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 13,256 11,451

Recognised in profit or loss
Recognised 

directly 
in equity

Net gains/
(losses)

2007 
SKK millions

Interest 
income/

(expense)
2007 

SKK millions

(Loss)/reversal 
of loss from 
impairment 

2007
SKK millions

Net gains / 
(losses) 

2007
SKK millions

Loans and receivables (7) 219 (4) –

Available-for-sale financial assets 101 – – 380

Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost – (45) – –

Financial derivatives (19) – – –

Total 75 174 (4) 380

Recognised in profit or loss
Recognised 

directly 
in equity

Net gains/
(losses)

2006 
SKK millions

Interest 
income/

(expense)
2006 

SKK millions

(Loss)/reversal 
of loss from 
impairment 

2006
SKK millions

Net gains / 
(losses) 

2006
SKK millions

Loans and receivables (10) 206 (51) –

Available-for-sale financial assets 200 11 – (3)

Financial liabilities measured 
at amortised cost – (36) – –

Financial derivatives 12 – – –

Total 202 181 (51) (3)
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Analysis of impaired loans and receivables:

ii)  Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents or have available funding 
through an adequate number of credit facilities to cover the liquidity risk in accordance with  
its financing strategy. The amounts available in the form of credit facilities as at 31 December  
2007 and 2006 consists of following:

The Group may enter into various types of forwards, swaps and options in managing its commodity, 
foreign exchange and interest rate risk resulting from cash flows from business activities  
and financing arrangements. In line with the Group’s risk management policy, no speculative 
dealings are allowed. Any derivative transaction the Group may enter is under ISDA (Interna-
tional Swaps and Derivatives Association) agreements.

i)   Credit risk

The Group provides a variety of customers with products and services, none of whom, based  
on volume and creditworthiness, present significant credit risk, individually or aggregated.  
The Group procedure is to ensure that sales are made to customers with appropriate credit history 
and do not exceed an acceptable credit exposure limit. 

Book value of financial assets reflects estimated maximum exposure to credit risk.

The carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms 
have been renegotiated amounted to SKK 13 million as at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: 
SKK 6 million).

Credit limits are secured by insurance, obtained bank guarantees, bills of exchange, letters  
of credit, pledge on financial assets, and property, plant and equipment. Nominal value  
of accepted guarantees related to loans and receivables represented SKK 3,714 million as  
at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: SKK 3,057 million). Fair value of accepted guarantees 
does not significantly differ from its nominal value.

Analysis of unimpaired loans and receivables:

Loans and receivables which are past due but not impaired represent amounts reported to related 
parties.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Nominal value
2007

SKK millions

Provisions 
2007

SKK millions

Net book value
2007 

SKK millions

Not past due and impaired 1 1 –

Past due and impaired:

Up to 30 days 462 4 458

From 31 to 90 days 19 1 18

From 91 to 180 days 9 3 6

Over 180 days 178 174 4

Total impaired loans and receivables 669 183 486

Nominal value
2006

SKK millions

Provisions 
2006

SKK millions

Net book value
2006 

SKK millions

Not past due and impaired – – –

Past due and impaired:

Up to 30 days 527 5 522

From 31 to 90 days 35 2 33

From 91 to 180 days 13 5 8

Over 180 days 401 399 2

Total impaired loans and receivables 976 411 565

Net book value 
2007

SKK millions

Net book value 
2006

SKK millions

Neither past due nor impaired 15,241 13,694

Past due not impaired:

Up to 30 days 627 516

Over 30 days 63 50

Total unimpaired loans and receivables 15,931 14,260

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Long-term loan facilities of the Group 5,187 18

- out of which loan facilities from MOL Nyrt. 2,450 –

Short-term loan facilities of the Group 8,110 10,180

- out of which loan facilities from MOL Nyrt. 1,879 3,846

Total loan facilities available 13,297 10,198
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iii)   Market risks

Interest rate risk

The Group’s policy is to ensure that not more than 50% of its exposure to changes in interest rates 
is on a fixed rate basis.

Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk:

The estimated impact on profit before taxes is disclosed for the period of 12 months after  
the reporting date in the table above.

For calculation of estimated marginal values of interest rates the Monte Carlo simulation was used, 
by which the distribution for the interest rates was calculated. The margin values were determined 
as 5th and 95th percentile.

In 2007, bank credit lines were used dominantly for bank guarantees securing the Group’s liabilities 
toward the customs authorities. As at 31 December 2007 the Group utilized SKK 3,275 million  
(31 December 2006: SKK 3,614 million) from these facilities for obtaining bank guarantees.

In addition, guarantees amounting to SKK 863 million as at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: 
SKK 313 million) were provided outside the credit lines mentioned above.

In order to cover the liquidity risk in 2007, the Group also effectively used credit facilities 
established between the Group and MOL Nyrt. The Group acted as a borrower but mainly as 
lender towards MOL Nyrt., in case there was surplus cash created by the Group. The total amount  
of credit lines provided to MOL Nyrt. as at 31 December 2007 reached SKK 11,788 million  
(31 December 2006: SKK 9,739 million) out of which SKK 2,785 million was drawn  
(31 December 2006: SKK 2,443 million).

Analysis of liquidity risk:

Available-for-sale financial assets as at 31 December 2007 and 2006 represent capital instruments, 
which do not have determined maturity.
 
Maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2007 and 2006 based  
on contractual undiscounted payments:

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2006

On 
demand

SKK 
millions

Up to 1 
month

SKK 
millions

From 
1 to 3 

months
SKK 

millions

From 3 
to 12 

months
SKK 

millions

From 
1 to 5 
years
SKK 

millions

Over 5 
years

SKK
millions

Without 
maturity

SKK
millions

Total

SKK 
millions

Long-term bank loans – – – – 18 – – 18

Trade payables 82 8,012 2,123 1 – – – 10,218

Short-term bank loans – 5 – 1,044 – – – 1,049

Other current
financial liabilities 25 141 – – – – – 166

Total 107 8,158 2,123 1,045 18 – – 11,451

Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities 

measured at amortised cost
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions
2007

SKK millions
2006

SKK millions

On demand 2,820 2,904 135 107

Up to 1 month 12,205 10,512 10,733 8,158

From 1 to 3 months 1,333 1,346 1,199 2,123

From 3 to 12 months 58 63 53 1,045

From 1 to 5 years – – 867 18

Over 5 years – – 37 –

Without maturity 1 – 232 –

Total 16,417 14,825 13,256 11,451

2007 2006
Increase/decrease 

of interest rate 
by %

Impact on profit 
before taxes in 

SKK million

Increase/decrease 
of interest rate 

by %

Impact on profit 
before taxes in 

SKK million

BRIBOR (SKK) +1.98% (1) +0.76% (2)

BRIBOR (SKK) -1.10% 2 -1.18% 4

LIBOR (USD) +0.50% – +0.68% 15

LIBOR (USD) -1.49% (1) -0.32% (7)

WIBOR (PLN) -1.09% 9 -0.57% 4

WIBOR (PLN) +3.35% (27) +3.87% (25)

2007

On 
demand

SKK 
millions

Up to 1 
month

SKK 
millions

From 
1 to 3 

months
SKK 

millions

From 3 
to 12 

months
SKK 

millions

From 
1 to 5 
years
SKK 

millions

Over 5 
years

SKK
millions

Without 
maturity

SKK
millions

Total

SKK 
millions

Long-term bank loans – – – 43 92 39 – 174

Trade payables 135 10,709 1,177 2 – – 58 12,081

Short-term bank loans – 4 8 35 937 – – 984

Other current
financial liabilities – 22 22 8 – – 174 226

Total 135 10,735 1,207 88 1,029 39 232 13,465
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other price risks 

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk on both purchasing side and the sales side.  
The main commodity risks of the Group are the short crude oil position, long refinery margin 
position (long refinery products) and long petrochemical margin position. As at 31 December 2007 
and 2006 there were no open hedging positions in respect of commodity risks.

Capital management

Capital of the Group is managed at the MOL Group level. The primary objective of the MOL Groups’ 
capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios 
in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value.

The MOL Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes  
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the MOL Group may adjust  
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.

The MOL Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital 
plus net debt. Net debt equals to interest-bearing loans less cash and cash equivalents.

The structure of capital and net debt and gearing ration for the Group is as follows:

foreign currency risk

The Group may enter into various types of foreign exchange contracts in managing its foreign 
exchange risk resulting from cash flows from business activities and financing arrangements 
denominated in foreign currencies or certain transactional exposures.

The Group has a net long USD and long EUR operating cash flow position. The Group’s oil business 
gives rise to a long USD cash flow exposure, while its petrochemical business adds a long EUR 
cash flow position.

The Group follows the basic economic currency risk management principle that the currency mix 
of the debt portfolio should reflect the net operating cash flow position of the Group, constituting 
a natural hedge.

Sensitivity analysis of foreign currency risk:

The estimated impact on profit before taxes is disclosed for the period of 12 months after  
the reporting date in the table above. The Group does not expect any effect on equity for  
these periods.

For calculation of estimated marginal values of exchange rates the Monte Carlo simulation 
was used, by which the distribution for the exchange rates was calculated. The margin values  
were determined as 5th and 95th percentile.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007 2006
Increase/decrease 

of exchange rate 
in %

Effect on profit 
before taxes 

 SKK millions

Increase/decrease 
of exchange rate 

in %

Effect on profit 
before taxes 
SKK millions

USD +9% (538) +3% (62)

USD -11% 628 -11% 219

HUF +7% 140 +6% 86

HUF -12% (235) -9% (125)

EUR +4% 112 +3% 59

EUR -8% (215) -6% (111)

CZK -2% (33) +6% 78

CZK -11% (236) -9% (121)

PLN +1% 1 +2% 10

PLN -15% (21) -9% (48)

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Long-term debt, net of current portion 111 18

Short-term debt including current portion of long-term debt 838 1,049

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (2,473) (3,085)

Net debt (1,524) (2,018)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 51,011 50,569

Minority interest 22 56

Total capital 51,033 50,625

Capital and net debt 49,509 48,607

Gearing ratio (%) (3.08) (4.15)
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of the first instance ordered the suspension of the enforcement of the Ministry’s decision  
the Ministry has not paid back the amount of the fine to the Company. 

On 29 March 2007 the Regional Court in Bratislava dismissed the claim of the Company for the 
invalidation of the Ministry of Finance decision. On 27 April 2007 the Company filed an appeal 
against the decision. The Supreme Court is authorised to decide on the appeal.

On 24 January 2005 the Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic initiated another price  
audit procedure focusing on the adherence of the Slovak Price Act for the period starting  
in the fourth quarter 2004. This price audit had not been finished as at the date of these 
consolidated financial statements. Based on the Company’s demand, the Ministry of Finance  
of the Slovak Republic temporary superseded the price audit exercise on 10 April 2006.

Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak Republic

The Abuse of Dominant Position Department of the Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak Republic 
notified the Company by its letter dated 21 November 2005 of the commencement of Administrative 
proceeding against the Company due to a potential breach of the provisions of Act No. 136/2001 
Coll. on Protection of Economic Competition. These administrative proceedings involved a review 
of the price and discount policy of the Company with respect to the petrol and diesel sales. 

In the decision No. 2006/DZ/2/1/140 dated 22 December 2006 the Abuse of Dominant Position 
Department of the Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak Republic stated that the Company had 
abused its dominant position on relevant wholesale markets for petrol and diesel and imposed  
a penalty of SKK 300 million. The Company filed an appeal against the decision in form  
of exposition within which the Council of the Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak Republic sent  
a call for statement. In the call the Council confirmed the findings stated in the first instance 
decision related to a relevant market definition, determination of the dominant position of the 
Company as well as conclusions concerning the abuse of a dominant position by discrimination. 
The Company replied to the call within the period determined by the law.

On 7 December 2007 the Council of the Antimonopolly Office of the Slovak Republic took the final 
decision and confirmed that the Company is obliged to pay SKK 300 million penalty. On 18 January 
2008 the Company took a legal action against the decision at the Regional Court in Bratislava, 
in which it asked for the inspection for lawfulness of the decision and also of inspection of the 
procedure precedent to that decision including the first instance decision including administrative 
procedure mainly on the following grounds: the Company believes that by action of the Council 
of the Antimonopoly Office of the Slovak Republic fundamental constitution rights were violated, 
particularly the right for just administration process, the right to defend itself and the right to be 
heard in the action before the authority. In addition, the Company believes that the Antimonopoly 
Office of the Slovak Republic itself proceeded in a manner that is not consistent with law  
and issued unlawful decision because the principle of material truth was breached, state  
of facts was not correctly ascertained, the decision is unreviewable on the lack of ground  
and its conclusions are not supported by evidence available in the file.

27 Commitments and contingent liabilities 

Guarantees

The total value of guarantees granted to parties outside the Group as at 31 December 2007  
is SKK 36 million (31 December 2006: SKK 47 million).

Pledged assets

Assets with the aggregate net book value of SKK 219 million have been pledged as collateral  
for the secured long-term bank loans as at 31 December 2007 (31 December 2006: nil)  
(see Note 14).

Capital and contractual commitments

The total value of capital commitments as at 31 December 2007 is SKK 2,712 million (31 December 
2006: SKK 655 million) and relates to obligations to purchase property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets.

Operating leases

The operating lease liabilities are as follows:

Authority procedures, litigation

Ministry of finance of the Slovak Republic

The Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic has initiated in the Company a review of its 
costs arising during the years of 2002 and 2003 and the profit included in its fuel prices in 2004.  
The Ministry of Finance pursued its procedure under the Slovak Price Act that in the opinion 
of the Ministry entitles the Ministry of Finance to review the costs and profits included  
in the product prices with a retroactive effect. As a consequence of the second instance decision 
of the Slovak Ministry of Finance the Company had to pay a fine of SKK 1,342 million in October 
2005. However, according to the Company’s opinion, the decision of the Ministry of Finance  
was based on subjective and economically unsubstantiated calculations concerning the  
“reasonable profit” and therefore it filed a proposal to cancel the validity of the decision of the 
Ministry of Finance and suspension of the enforceability thereof. Despite the fact that the court  

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Not later than 1 year 81 143

Later than 1 year not later than 5 years 30 94

Total 111 237

Minimum lease payments recognised in the income 
statement for the period 61 80
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in the Czech Republic for the enforcement of the execution of the Arbitration Award issued  
by the International Commercial Arbitration Court at the Chamber of Commerce and Industry  
of the Russian Federation. The Regional Court for Prague 4 upheld the request and ordered  
the execution thorough its resolution dated 16 September 2005. The Company appealed 
against the decision on execution. Based on it, the first instance court postponed the execution.  
The Municipal Court in Prague subsequently changed the decision of the first instance court 
and overruled the execution order. In October 2006 Ashford filed an extraordinary appeal to  
the Supreme Court of the Czech Republic with aim to return the case back to the Municipal Court 
in Prague for a new appel proceeding.

On 14 May 2007 Ashford also submitted petition for nullity of the Agreement on ownership  
transfer in Slovnaft Česká republika, spol. s r.o. between the Company and MOLTRADE- 
Mineralimpex Zrt. In the same time Ashford lodged the application for issuance of preliminary 
injunction that would ask restriction for MOLTRADE-Mineralimpex Zrt. on its disposition with  
the ownership interest in Slovnaft Česká republika, spol. s r.o. and that would ask restrictions  
for Slovnaft Česká republika, spol. s r.o. from its disposing and with its business and substantial 
part of the petrol stations. The preliminary injunction was issued in April 2007, but based  
on appeal filed by both related companies the High Court in Prague dismissed the application  
for injunction against both defendants on 31 August 2007.

At present the proceedings against the Company in the Czech Republic are still unclosed.  
The probability of success in the case cannot be quantified, since it concerns an extremely 
complicated matter both from the factual and legal aspects.

Environmental liabilities

The Company’s operations are subject to the risk of liability arising from environmental damage 
or pollution and the cost of any associated remedial work. The Company is currently responsible 
for significant remediation of past environmental damage relating to its operations. Accordingly, 
the Company has established a provision of SKK 1,067 million for the estimated cost as  
at 31 December 2007 for probable and quantifiable costs of rectifying past environmental damage 
(see Note 16). Although the management believes that these provisions are sufficient to satisfy 
such requirements to the extent that the related costs are reasonably estimable, future regulatory 
developments or differences between known environmental conditions and actual conditions 
could cause a revaluation of these estimates. 

At the same time, the Company filed a motion to the Regional Court in Bratislava in which it 
asks also for suspension of the enforcement of the decision in the part of requirement to pay 
penalty. On 25 February 2008 the Company paid the penalty based on fact that the Regional Court  
in Bratislava did not decide on suspension of the enforcement of the decision until due date  
for paying the penalty.

Other inspections/ controls
 
The Company is subject to various controls performed by the state authorities. The Company 
cannot exclude that any of these proceedings discover irregularities in its activities, based on 
which the Company could be penalized, however the management cannot determine any amount 
for which a provision should be recognised because of such proceedings. For that reason, there 
was no provision booked for that purpose as at 31 December 2007.

Litigations

Mende-Rossi / ashford technologies Corporation

The Russian arbitral court imposed upon the Company as defendant a duty to pay to Mende-Rossi 
(Mendelejevsk Tartar firm) USD 15,689,041.00 together with 16% default interest p.a. on the amount  
of USD 9,144,095.00 from 24 June 1994 until payment and the costs of the proceeding in  
an amount USD 68,160.00 for failing to provide the consideration of the crude oil supplies in its  
resolution in April 1996 in the course of the proceedings initiated by plaintiff Mende-Rossi,  
in front of the International Commercial Arbitration Tribunal at the Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry of the Russian Federation. Considering that the Russian arbitration proceeding violated 
the rights to impartial proceeding and the right for the Company to be represented as a contending 
party, as well as because the decision was not supported with adequate evidence the competent 
courts of the Slovak Republic finally refused the enforcement of the decision of the Russian court 
of arbitration. The legal proceedings in the case in the Slovak Republic finished in March 2004  
in favour of the Company.

In 1997 Mende-Rossi started arbitration court proceeding in Austria and at the same time it tried 
to enforce the decision in Slovak Republic. In 2005, the competent court of the Slovak Republic 
found the decision of the court of arbitration illegal and refused its enforcement within the Slovak 
Republic.

On 30 April 2007 the competent Austrian court dismissed a suit on the enforcement of the  
decision in Austria. This decision has not become effective yet, as the delivery to Mende-Rossi  
was not successful. The Company took over the decision through its advocate on 4 June 2007.

The company Ashford Technologies Corporation (Ashford) states that it has become under  
the contract on the assignment of receivable concluded with Mende-Rossi on 14 July 2005 the 
owner of the receivable mentioned above. Ashford filed a court action dated 12 August 2005 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



104 Slovnaft annUal REPoRt 2007 105ConSolIDatED fInanCIal StatEMEntS

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

SLOVNAFT, a.s. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2007

28  Shareholders structure

Major shareholders of the Company were:

29 Events after the balance sheet date

No events have occurred after 31 December 2007 that would require adjustment to, or disclosure 
in the financial statements.

 
30 Segmental information

Primary reporting format – business segments

The Group is organised into the following business segments: Refining and Marketing, 
Petrochemicals and Corporate and Other. The transfer prices are derived from international quoted 
market prices published by Platt’s or ICIS, reflecting the international nature of the oil business. 

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
in %

2006
in %

MOL Nyrt. 98.4 98.4

Others 1.6 1.6

Total 100.0 100.0

2007

Refining 
and 

Marketing

SKK 
millions

Petro-
chemicals

SKK 
millions

Corporate 
and Other

SKK 
millions

Inter-
segment 

transfers

SKK 
millions

Total

SKK 
millions

Sales to external customers 98,264 16,192 156 – 114,612

Inter-segment sales 15,733 6,521 2,605 (24,859) –

Segment revenue 113,997 22,713 2,761 (24,859) 114,612

Depreciation, depletion, amortisation
and impairment (2,882) (562) (192) 11 (3,625)

Other non-cash expenses 61 (16) 296 – 341

Profit/(loss) from operations 8,862 1,029 (473) (33) 9,385

Income from Associates 24 – – – 24

Finance revenues, net – – – – 49

Profit before tax – – – – 9,458

Income tax expense – – – – (1,876)

Profit for the period – – – – 7,582

Property, plant, equipment 
and intangibles acquired 2,411 129 194 – 2,734

2006

Refining 
and 

Marketing
 

SKK 
millions

Petro-
chemicals

 
SKK 

millions

Corporate 
and Other

 
SKK 

millions

Inter-
segment 

transfers
 

SKK 
millions

Total

 
SKK 

millions

Sales to external customers 105,107 14,804 155 – 120,066

Inter-segment sales 16,857 6,474 3,245 (26,576) –

Segment revenue 121,964 21,278 3,400 (26,576) 120,066

Depreciation, depletion, amortisation 
and impairment (2,757) (517) (173) 11 (3,436)

Other non-cash expenses (162) (16) (152) – (330)

Profit/(loss) from operations 9,105 129 (1,271) 24 7,987

Income from Associates 21 – – – 21

Finance revenues, net – – – – (46)

Profit before tax – – – – 7,962

Income tax expense – – – – (1,606)

Profit for the period – – – – 6,356

Property, plant, equipment 
and intangibles acquired 3,624 421 265 – 4,310

2007

Refining 
and 

Marketing
 

SKK 
millions

Petro-
chemicals

 
SKK 

millions

Corporate 
and Other

 
SKK 

millions

Inter-
segment 

transfers
 

SKK 
millions

Total

 
SKK 

millions

Property, plant and equipment, net 32,658 4,121 2,734 (75) 39,438

Intangible assets, net 213 435 198 (231) 615

Trade receivables, net 7,883 3,229 233 (2,629) 8,716

Investments in Associates 118 – 3 – 121

Non-current available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 1,919 – 1,919

Current available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 1 – 1

Inventories 8,315 1,047 347 (25) 9,684

Not allocated assets – – – – 10,690

Total assets 71,184

Trade payables 11,500 2,421 973 (2,813) 12,081

Not allocated liabilities – – – – 8,070

Total liabilities 20,151
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Secondary reporting segment: geographical segments

Net sales:

Total assets:

Capital expenditure:

The operating profit of the segments includes the profit arising both from sales to third parties 
and transfers to the other business segments. Refining and Marketing transfers chemical 
feedstock and propylene to Petrochemicals and Petrochemicals transfers various by-products  
to Refining and Marketing. Segmental figures contain the results of the fully consolidated 
subsidiaries engaged in the respective segments. 

The inter-segment transfers include the effect on operating profit of the change in the amount  
of unrealised profit deferred in respect of transfers between segments. Unrealised profits 
arise where the item transferred is held in inventory by the receiving segment and a third party 
sale takes place only in a subsequent period. For segmental reporting purposes the transferor  
segment records a profit immediately at the point of transfer. However, at the company level  
profit is only reported when the related third party sale has taken place. Unrealised profits arise  
principally in respect of transfers from Corporate and Other to Refining and Marketing and  
to Petrochemicals.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2006

Refining 
and 

Marketing
 

SKK 
millions

Petro-
chemicals

 
SKK 

millions

Corporate 
and Other

 
SKK 

millions

Inter-
segment 

transfers
 

SKK 
millions

Total

 
SKK 

millions

Property, plant and equipment, net 33,237 4,456 2,720 (81) 40,332

Intangible assets, net 194 299 179 – 672

Trade receivables, net 6,879 2,631 1,288 (3,167) 7,631

Investments in Associates 93 – 4 – 97

Non-current available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 1,438 – 1,438

Current available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 102 – 102

Inventories 7,207 895 364 13 8,479

Not allocated assets – – – – 9,986

Total assets 68,737

Trade payables 9,840 2,134 1,415 (3,171) 10,218

Not allocated liabilities – – – – 7,894

Total liabilities 18,112

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Slovak Republic 34,270 33,468

Czech Republic 23,638 24,773

Austria 18,213 16,871

Poland 14,776 14,229

Hungary 8,696 12,528

Germany 6,889 6,087

Italy 4,289 3,619

Other 3,841 8,491

Total 114,612 120,066

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Slovak Republic 65,485 64,409

Poland 3,777 2,886

Hungary 1,919 1,438

Austria 3 4

Total 71,184 68,737

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Slovak Republic 2,732 4,301

Poland 2 9

Total 2,734 4,310
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Emoluments of the members of the Board of Directors and Supervisory Board

The Board of Directors’ total remuneration amounted to SKK 4 million in 2007 (2006:  
SKK 4 million). The total remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board amounted  
to SKK 1 million in 2007 (2006: SKK 1 million). Salaries and remuneration of key managers  
of the Company amounted to SKK 37 million (2006: SKK 47 million).

31 Related party transactions

The Group is controlled by MOL Nyrt. Following the integration process within the MOL Group, 
the Group undertook significant transactions with other companies within the MOL Group 
(including TVK Group). Messer Slovnaft s.r.o. is an associate of the Company.

JUDr. Oszkár Világi, a member of the Company’s Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer, 
is a partner in the legal firm CVD, spol. s r.o., and until 31 January 2007 he was a member of  
the Supervisory Board of OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. 

Pavol Buday, member of the Supervisory Board of the Company, is statutory representative  
of APOLKA, s.r.o. 

The transactions with related parties:

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Sales – products and goods:

MOL Group 37,469 24,243

TVK Group 157 792

Messer Slovnaft s. r. o. 131 148

Sales – services and other operating revenues:

MOL Group 615 474

TVK Group – 1

Messer Slovnaft s. r. o. 3 2

APOLKA, s.r.o. 1 1

Sales – intangible and tangible fixed assets:

MOL Group 1 6

Sales – subsidiary:

MOL Group – 647

Interest income:

MOL Group 122 98

OTP Banka Slovensko, a.s. – 1

Dividends:

TVK Group – 11

Messer Slovnaft s.r.o. – 27

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Purchases – products and goods:

MOL Group 12,733 8,505

TVK Group 911 671

Messer Slovnaft s. r. o. 179 193

Purchases – services and other operating expenses:

MOL Group 60 339

TVK Group 154 152

APOLKA, s.r.o. 5 5

CVD s.r.o. 7 11

Interest expense:

MOL Group 34 28

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Receivables:

MOL Group 4,002 3,094

TVK Group 20 61

Messer Slovnaft s. r. o. 19 13

Loans granted:

MOL Group (Note 10) 2,785 2,443

Payables:

MOL Group 1,010 1,167

TVK Group 166 177

CVD s. r. o. 1 2

Messer Slovnaft s. r. o. – 22

Loans received:

MOL Group (Note 15) 803 924
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The incentive stock option is a material incentive disbursed in cash, calculated based on call 
options concerning MOL Nyrt. shares, with annual recurrence, with the following characteristics: 
•  Covers a five-year period (three-year vesting and two-year exercising period) starting annually. 
•  Its rate is defined by the quantity of units specified by the Group job category. 
•  The value of the units is set annually (in 2006 and 2007, 1 unit equals to 100 MOL Nyrt. shares).

It is not possible to redeem the share option until the end of the third year (vesting period);  
the exercising period lasts from 1 January of the fourth year until 31 December of the fifth year. 
The incentive is paid in the exercising period according to the declaration of redemption. The paid 
amount of the incentive is determined as the product of the defined number and price increase 
(difference between the redemption price and the initial price) of shares.

Details of the share option rights granted during the year are as follows: 

As required by IFRS 2, this share-based compensation is accounted for as cash-settled payments, 
expensing the fair value of the benefit as determined at vesting date during the vesting period. 
Expense incurred by this scheme in 2007 was SKK 23 million, recorded as personnel-type  
expenses with a corresponding increase in Other non-current liabilities. 

Fair value as at the balance sheet date was calculated using the binomial option pricing model.  
The inputs to the model were as follows:

Key management compensation:

Long-Term Incentive Schemes for Management

A long-term bonus for the year 2007 is granted to the relevant managers in Slovak crowns and  
its amount is dependent on the parent company’s MOL Nyrt. share price (see Note 32). 

General Incentive Schemes for Management 

The incentive aim involves the Company and organizational level financial and operational targets, 
evaluation of the contribution to the strategic goals of the Company and determined individual 
tasks in the Performance Management System (PMS). The incentives for the year 2007 will be paid  
to managers based on the evaluation of indicators and tasks defined in the individual agree-
ments.

Evaluation of the contribution related to the performance in 2006 was held in 2007. The bonus  
was paid in May 2007. Evaluation of the contribution related to the performance in 2007 will be 
held in 2008. The bonus will be paid in May 2008.

Loans granted

No loans have been granted to key management and members of the Board of Directors  
and Supervisory Board.

32 Share-based payment plans

The expense arising from cash-settled share-based payment transactions amounted to  
SKK 23 million in 2007 (2006: SKK 2 million) (see Note 20).

The incentive system based on stock options launched in 2006 ensures the interest of  
the management of the Group in the long-term increase of the MOL Nyrt. stock price.

The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.The accounting policies and the notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2007
SKK millions

2006
SKK millions

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 36 44

Termination benefits – 2

Post-employment benefits 1 1

Total 37 47

2007 2006

Weighted average exercise price (HUF / share) 20,712 20,170

Weighted average share price (HUF / share) 24,491 21,300

Weighted average HUF / SKK rate 7.65 7.07

Expected volatility based on historical data (%) 31.89 29.31

Expected dividend yield (%) 2.34 1.46 

Expected life (years) 3.56 4.00

Risk free interest rate (%) 7.58 7.54

Number of 
shares in 

conversion 
options

2007
share

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

2007
HUF / share

Number of 
shares in 

conversion 
options

2006
share

Weighted 
average 

exercise price

2006
HUF / share 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 19,907 20,170 – –

Granted during the year 27,040 21,146 19,907 20,170

Forfeited during the year – – – –

Exercised during the year – – – –

Expired during the year – – – –

Outstanding at the end of the year 46,947 20,732 19,907 20,170

Exercisable at the end of the year – – – –
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Corporate 
Governance

As a member of the international MOL Group, a 
leading independent integrated oil-gas group in 
Central and Eastern Europe, the Company goes 
beyond obligations required by legislation within 
the application of best practice in corporate 
governance. The MOL Group commitment to 
high-quality Company governance, openness 
and responsibility for shareholders, employees, 
business partners, and other involved groups is 
confirmed by the adoption of the Corporate 
Governance Code in 2006. The awarding 
of the Company’s standards by the legal 
successor of an international consulting and 
rating company in the Corporate Governance 
Deminor Rating confirmed MOL’s position  
as a market leader in corporate governance  
in 2007. 

the work principles 
of the Company bodies 
In compliance with the Company Statutes, 
the General Assembly is the highest Company 
body. Its competence covers deciding on the 
following issues: 

a) change of the Articles of Association, 
b) taking decisions on the increase and 
 reduction of share capital, authorisation  
 of the Board of Directors to increase fixed  
 assets, and the issuance of priority bonds  
 or interchangeable bonds, 
c) taking decisions on dissolution of the  
 Company and its legal form, 
d) voting and dismissal of members of the  
 Company Supervisory Board, except  
 for the Supervisory Board members voted  
 and dismissed by Company emloyees  
 in compliance with Article 200 of the  
 Commercial Code, 
e) voting and dismissal of members of the  
 Board of Directors, 
f) approval of ordinary standalone and ordinary  
 consolidated, and extraordinary standalone  
 and extraordinary consolidated financial  
 statements, a decision on profit distribution 
 or settlement of losses and remuneration 
 for the members of the Company’s bodies 
 from the profit,

g) taking decisions on the transfer of stocks 
 issued as documentary securities to booked 
 securities and vice versa, 
h) taking decisions on the termination of trading 
 with Company stocks on stock exchanges, 
 and taking decisions on the termination  
 of the Company as a public joint stock  
 company, 
i) taking decisions on other issues that  
 statutes and legislation entrust to the  
 General Assembly’s competence. 

The Board of Directors calls a General Assembly 
by publishing a notice on the General Assembly. 
The notice on the General Assembly shall be 
delivered to the Company shareholders in  
a form to the bearer at least 30 days before 
the General Assembly. The Regular General 
Assembly of the Company is organised at least 
once a year. It is called by the Board of Directors 
and must take place within five months after the 
previous calendar year. The General Assembly 
is usually organised at the Company premises, 
but based on the Board of Directors’ decision, 
can be organised elsewhere. 

To apply a right to participate in the General 
Assembly, to vote and ask for information  
and explanations and to submit proposals, the 
date specified in the notice on the General 
Assembly is decisive. This can be the date of 
the General Assembly or the date preceding 
the date of the General Assembly organisation, 
but at most by five days. Where the decisive 
day is not specified in such a way, the date of 
the General Assembly is considered to be that 
date. The Company will give an order to the 
central depository of securities for the period 
starting with the decisive day and ending on 
the day of the General Assembly to register  
the suspension of the right to handle securities 
for all booked stocks issued. 

The right of the shareholder holding bearer 
shares to participate at the General  
Assembly is verified on the basis of a list 
of holders of securities kept by the central 
depository of securities, or in another 
trustworthy way in compliance with relevant 

SLOVNAFT, a.s. as a flag ship of the Slovak economy, has always acknowledged 
and applied demanding standards in the field of company administration and 
management, in compliance with the principles of an Integrated Corporate 
Governance Code, the rules of the Bratislava Stock Exchange, as well as relevant 
valid legislation. The Corporate governance of the Company is based on shared 
solid values, a clear vision, and strict quality requirements in each area of activities 
that are based on firm ethical principles. These are embedded in the Code of Ethics  
of the Slovnaft Group that was revised in 2007 with the aim of reflecting the most 
up-to-date international knowledge and experience. The Code of Ethics is available  
at www.slovnaft.sk.
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legislation (provided that relevant legislation 
enables the verification of the right of the 
shareholder to participate in the General 
Assembly in another way). 

Unless otherwise laid down in legislation, 
decisions of the General Assembly are valid 
provided that the qualifying majority of 
shareholders present at the General Assembly 
agree with motions therein. 

The Board of Directors, the highest 
administration body of the Company, its 
members are collectively respon sible for all 
activities of the Company. The main activity 
of the Board of Directors is focused on 
shareholders’ value growth, the increase of 
efficiency and profitability, and the ensuring  
of the Company activities’ transparency 
towards all parties. It strives for the effective 
management of business risk, environmental 
protection, and the promotion and mainte-
nance of safe workplaces. 

The Board of Directors is chaired by a chair man 
who does not hold any executive position in 
the Company. 

In compliance with the Statutes of the Company, 
the Board of Directors is the Company’s 
statutory body. It is entitled to act on behalf 
of the Company in all issues and represents 
the Company against third parties, law courts, 
and other authorities. The Board of Directors 
manages the Company, acts on its behalf, and 
decides on all Company issues, unless such 
issues are in the competence of other Company 
bodies as per legislation and Statutes. 
 
The members of the Board of Directors 
are subject to a ban on competition in the 
extent resulting from the valid wording of the 
Commercial Code. The Members of the Board 
of Directors are elected for five years. 

The Board of Directors is not entitled to 
decide on issues of shares or their respective 
purchase. 

A Company Coordination Council of the Chief 
Execu tive Officer acts in the Company.

The Company governance and management 
is controlled by the Supervisory Body in close 
cooperation with the Internal Audit function. 
This fulfils the task of an independent and 
objective evaluator of business controls  
and internal consultant on better achievement 
of corporate objectives. Based on the risk  
map, Internal Audit assesses control mecha-
nisms in operational procedures by providing  
a systematic, disciplined approach in improving 
the effectiveness of risk management, control, 
and governance processes that serves for 
the ongoing development of the organisation. 
Internal audit creates internal acts specifying 
internal audits, keeps contacts with the HSE 
departments, external auditors, and Corporate 
Security departments, fulfils coordination  
tasks, and prepares medium-term and annual 
internal audit plans for the Company. 

The internal control management and audit 
system consists of several mutually connected 
managing and inspection mechanisms – 
organisation, communication and personnel 
relations, administration and managing acts, 

operation and monitoring. Risks connected  
with these managing and control mechanisms 
are regularly evaluated, necesary corrective 
measures are proposed and implemented 
accordingly. 

The members of the Board of Directors and 
the Supervisory Board are voted by the General 
Assembly, except for those members of the 
Supervisory Board elected by employees. All 
members of the Supervisory Board and the 
Board of Directors have direct access to all 
relevant information related to the Company. 
During 2007, the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board met five times. A Secretary 
of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory 
Board keeps records of resolutions that were 
adopted by the supervisory and governance 
bodies of the Company.

In December 2007, elections of members of 
the Supervisory Board by Company employees 
took place.

The rights and obligations of Company sha re-
holders are laid down in legislation and in the 
Articles of Association of the Company. 

Any natural or legal entity can be the Com-
pany’s shareholder. An ownership of shares  
establishes the right of shareholders to 
participate in the Company management. This 
right is applied exclusively in the General 
Assembly while organisational measures 
valid for the General Assembly organisation 
must be respected. A shareholder can vote, 
require information and explanations related  
to Company issues or issues of persons 
controlled by the Company that are related 
with the General Assembly agenda, and put 
forward proposals at the General Assembly. 
A shareholder can execute its rights in the 
General Assembly by a proxy. The proxy has  
to be authorised to participate in the General 
Assembly in writing with the offi cially verified 
signature of the given share  holder. Where the 
shareholder who issued such an authorisation 
participates in the General Assembly, such an 

authorisation will become invalid. The proxy 
must not be a member of the Board of  
Directors and the Supervisory Board. The 
authorisation is valid for one General Assembly 
only. The voting right belonging to the 
shareholder depends on the nominal value  
of its shares, while a single vote belongs to 
each SKK 1,000. 

A shareholder is entitled to the Company profit 
share (a dividend) that the General Assembly 
determines for each dividend. A shareholder is 
not obliged to return the Company the dividend 
received in good faith. A shareholder is not 
entitled to ask for a return of its contribution 
to the Company, neither during the Company’s 
existence nor in the case of its liquidation,  
but is entitled to a share of liquidation balance 
in the case of the Company’s liquidation.

Amendments to the Company’s Articles of 
Association are approved by the Company’s 
General Assembly.

In compliance with provisions of the Com-
mercial Code, where amendments to the 
Articles of Association are approved, two-
thirds of the majority of shareholders present 
at the General Assembly is required and  
a notary record shall be elaborated. 

The complete wording of the Company’s 
Articles of Association is available at the  
Company seat and in the Collection of Docu-
ments in the specific court of registration. 
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The Company shares are booked ordinary 
bearer shares and are accepted for dealing on 
the Bratislava Stock Exchange. 

Voting rights connected with the Company 
shares are not limited. 

Owners of securities issued by the Company 
do not have special control rights. 

The Company is not aware of any agree-
ments between the owners of securities 
issued by the Company that can lead to  
the limitation of the transferability of securities 
or the limitation of voting rights.

Some of the credit agreements of the Company 
with banks contain provisions related to the 
change of control in the Company which are 
standard in similar contracts.

No agreements are signed between the 
Company and members of its bodies or 
employees based on which they have to be 
provided with remuneration if their position  
or employment relation finishes by resignation  
on the part of the employee, their recall, a notice 
on the part of the employer without stating 
a reason, or their position or employment 
relation finishes due to takeover bid.

The Company does not have a branch abroad.

Information disclosure 
and transparency 

The Company applies strict rules with regards 
to insider trading, and assures regular  
updating of the list of members of the Board 
of Directors, Supervisory Board and employees 
who may be considered insiders.

In compliance with the internal regulations  
of the Company, all members of the Board 
of Directors and Supervisory Board shall 
communicate any material interest in indivi-
dual transactions. Such informing is given 
in sessions of the Board of Directors, the 
Supervisory Board, or General Assembly  
where the particular transaction is discussed 
for the first time, and the rule is applied  
that the particular person abstains from voting 
in the case of such transaction. 

Where the Code of Company Governance and 
Management of Companies, rules of the Stock 
Exchange in Bratislava, as well as the Code 
of Ethics of the Slovnaft Group are followed, 
the Company assures access to all relevant 
information to all shareholders, potential 
investors, and third parties based on which 
they can take qualified investment or other 
business decisions. All important information  
is also available on the Company web site. 

Relations to stakeholders
The Company Board of Directors fully 
acknowledges its obligation to represent  
and support the interests of its shareholders. 
In order to assure that the Company meets 
the expectations of its shareholders, the Board 
of Directors performs regular analyses and 
assesses the development of the external 
environment, as well as internal conditions, 
including operation ones. 

The Board of Directors of the Company fully 
acknowledges its obligations to promote the 
interests of its shareholders. Thus, the main 
communication channels are the Annual Report 
as well as quarterly reports on achieved results. 
The Company’s shareholders are informed of 
the performance of the Slovnaft Group and 
its further strategy at ordinary or extraordinary 
General Assembly’s where all questions are 
answered. 

With regard to its extraordinary position in the 
national economy, the Slovnaft Group fully 
realises its social responsibility. It considers 
responsible business to be a method of 
entrepreneurial activity management with  
a positive impact on economic results as well 
as on the whole relevant vicinity (personnel, 
partners, vicinity, and the whole region) with 
ongoing reduction of environmental impact 
by the development of human resources, 
community, and society. On the part of the 
Company, it is a permanent obligation to 
conduct business in an ethical, transparent 
and socially responsible manner, and thus  
to contribute to economic development under 
the long-term enhancement of the quality 
of life of employees, their families, the local 
community, and wider society. 

The principles of conducting responsible 
business are embedded in the Code of Ethics 
of the Slovnaft Group in the form of particular 
commitments. 

The Company understands the specific 
character of chemical production, and 

thus it puts extraordinary emphasis on the 
protection of the environment, health and 
safety of products, employees, consumers, 
and the community. At the same time it strives  
for sustainable development. 

The Company is intensively engaged in 
philanthropy, in particular, at the support of 
children and young people: their education, 
health, support of science, culture and sport. 
Annually hundreds of projects are supported  
to help improve the quality of the education  
and conditions of children, developing their 
talents, recovery from illness, supporting scien-
tific-technical development, and preserving  
the cultural heritage of Slovakia. 
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Board of Directors
Marián Jusko

Chairman of the Board of Directors of SLOVNAFT, 
a.s. since 2005; former Governor of the Slovak  
National Bank
Mr. Jusko graduated from the Faculty of  
National Economy at the Economic University  
in Bratislava in 1979. In 1989 he obtained the 
scientific title CSc. He worked in the banking 
sector since 1991. After formation of the 
National Bank in 1993 he became its acting 
Deputy Governor. Between 1999 and 2004 
he was Governor of the National Bank of 
Slovakia. Mr. Jusko has perfor med various 
influential positions in inter national institutions 
– he was governor of International Monetary 
Fund, alternating governor of the European 
Bank for Recon struction and Development, 
member of the Bank Board of International 
Investment Bank and International Bank of 
Economic Cooperation. Currently he holds 
the post of president of RÚZ (Republic’s 
Union of Employers) – the biggest employer’s 
organisation in the Slovak Republic.

oszkár világi

Member of the Board of Directors since April 
2005; CEO of SLOVNAFT, a.s. since March 
2006 
Mr. Világi graduated from the Faculty of Law 
at the Commenius University in Bratislava in 
1985 and achieved the academic title JUDr.  
(Doctor of Law) in 1991. In 1992 he was  
co-founder of the Law Consultancy Office 
Csekes, Világi, Drgonec & Partners. During 1990 
– 1992 he was member of the Czechoslovak 
Parliament. From 1996 he was a member 
of the supervisory and governing bodies of 
several important Slovak companies, including 
Poľnobanka, Slovenská poisťovňa and Slovak 
Railways (ŽSR), CHZP Apollo. He was the legal 
advisor of foreign investors in big restructuring 
projects of Slovak industry (US Steel, France 
Telecom, OTP, MOL). Before becoming 
a member of the Board of Directors in 
SLOVNAFT, a.s. in 2005, he was a member  
of its Supervisory Board. On March 6, 2006  
Mr. Világi was appointed CEO. 

József Simola

Member of the Board of 
Directors since May 2004; 
MOL Group Corporate Centre 
Executive Vice President 
Mr. Simola worked between 
1991 – 1992 as an SAP expert 
at General Electric – Tungsram. 
After that he was employed 
as auditor and consultant  
at Arthur Andersen. In 1995 
he participated in the French 
INSEAD MBA programme.  
In 1996 he joined the Boston 
Consulting Group, where 
he held various managerial 
positions in Hungary, Ger-
many and Australia. Director 
of Corporate Centre of 
MOL Group since 2003 and 
Human Resources Director 
simultaneously since Sep-
tember 2004. Between April 
2004 and April 2005 member 
of the Supervisory Board 
of TVK. Corporate Centre 
Executive Vice President since 
April 2006.

József Molnár

Member of the Board of 
Directors since January 2004; 
MOL Group Chief Financial 
Officer 
Mr. Molnár graduated from 
the Budapest University of 
Economic Sciences in 1978. 
From 1978 to 2001, he held 
various management positions 
at Borsodchem, including 
head of Pricing department 
from 1982 to 1987, head of 
Economic department from 
1987 to 1991. Between 1991 
and 2001, as CFO and first 
deputy of CEO, contributed 
to the crisis management and 
reorganization of the company, 
and later to the elaboration of 
its vision and its privatization. 
He played key role in the stock 
exchange listing of Borsodchem 
shares. He joined TVK as CEO 
in 2001. From 2001 he has  
been the member of the Board 
of Directors of TVK. Since 2003 
he was MOL Group Planning 
and Controlling Director, untill 
his appointment as Group CFO 
in 2004.

ferenc Horváth

Member of the Board of 
Directors since May 2003; 
MOL Group Refining and 
Marketing Executive Vice 
President 
Mr. Horváth graduated from  
St. Peterburg State University 
in 1984. His professional 
career started in Mineral-
impex, Hungarian Foreign 
Trade Company for Oil and 
Mining Products, where he 
worked till 1989. Between  
1990 and 1997 he was 
the Managing Director  
of ALLCOM Trading Co. 
He joined MOL Plc in 1998  
and since January 2001  
had been working as LPG 
Business Unit Director. In 
2002 he became Commercial 
Director, later Managing 
Director of Refining and 
Marketing Division till his 
appointment into current 
position.
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lászló fekete

Member of the Board of 
Directors since April 2006; 
MOL Group Corporate servi-
ces director 
Mr. Fekete, graduate from 
Technical University Miskolc 
(mechanical engineer) and 
Technical University Budapest 
(electric engineer), started 
his professional carrier 
in Tungsram Plc. After 
acquisition by General Electric 
(GE) he attended exchange 
management program and 
became a director of 
Hungarian branch of GE in 
Ózd. He joined MOL in 2000, 
between 2001 – 2003 acted  
as director of Corporate 
services in SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
In November 2003 he was 
promoted to director of 
Corporate services for the 
MOL Group. He acts as MOL’s 
representative in relation to 
maintenance companies Petrol-
szolg Kft. and SLOV NAFT 
MONTÁŽE A OPRAVY, a.s.

Peter Chmurčiak

Member of the Board of 
Directors since April 2007; 
director of the MOL Group 
Planning and Controlling
Mr. Chmurčiak graduated 
from Slovak Technical  
Uni ver  sity Bratislava, with  
spe cia lization Chemical and 
Energetical Fuel Processing. 
After graduation he joined 
SLOVNAFT, a.s. where he  
has been working until now. 
After graduation stay at 
Steam Cracker unit he worked 
as a development analyst in 
the Department of Company 
Strategy until 1998. During 
this time he entered into 2 year 
post-graduation program with 
focus on marketing, finance 
and management at the CITY 
University Bellevue – Bratislava 
branch. In the period 1998 to 
2001 he worked as cash flow 
manager. Since 2001 he has 
been working as a director of 
the Planning and Controlling 
of SLOVNAFT, a.s., and from 
February 2005 he manages 
planning and controlling on 
the MOL Group level.

Supervisory
Board

György Mosonyi
Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board

Ilona Bánhegyi
Member of the Supervisory 

Board

Pavol Buday
Member of the Supervisory 

Board

Krisztina Dorogházi
Member of the Supervisory 

Board

andrás Huszár
Member of the Supervisory 

Board

Peter Šrámek
Member of the Supervisory 

Board

ferenc Dénes

Member of the Board of 
Directors since 2001; MOL 
Group Managing Director of 
Lubricants Division 
Mr. Dénes, graduate from 
Veszprém University in crude 
oil technology, has a 30 years 
experience in the Hungarian 
oil industry within MOL and 
predecessor companies. He 
has held different managerial 
position in R&D, production, 
sales and marketing of 
lubricants. From 1992 to 1996 
he managed the Lubricants 
Business Unit of MOL. From 
1996 to 2000 he headed the 
Supply Chain activities of 
MOL Refinery and Marketing, 
inclu ding refining, logistics 
and wholesale. From 2001 
as portfolio manager was 
res pon sible for managing 
of SLOVNAFT, a.s. issues in-  
side MOL. In 2003 was the 
project manager of the MOL 
– Slovnaft integration project. 
From 2004 he took over the 
Lubricants Division of the 
Group as Managing Director.

Béla Kelemen

Member of the Board of 
Directors since March 2004; 
director of MOL Group Refi-
nery and Marketing 
Mr. Kelemen graduated from 
the Chemical Faculty at the 
Budapest Technical University 
in 1986 and later on has 
got PhD degree in Physical 
Chemistry. His professional 
carrier started at the 
university, where he worked 
as a professional assistant 
in chromatography and air 
pollution monitoring till 1992. 
Between 1992 and 1997 he 
worked for ALLCOM Trading 
Co. (American/Hungarian JV) 
as a director of fuel sales.  
In 1997 he joined MOL Rt. 
where he occupied various 
leading positions. In 2003 
he was appointed director 
of Refinery & Marketing in 
SLOVNAFT, a.s. Mr. Kelemen 
represents MOL Group 
in European Institutions 
EUROPIA and IEA.
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Report on SLOVNAFT, a.s. 
Supervisory Board Activities
for the Period from the ordinary General assembly Held 
on 20 april 2007

The submitted Supervisory Board report on the accounting year 2007 is prepared on the basis  
of the Board of Directors’ reports and auditor’s reports on the ordinary standalone and 
consolidated financial statements for 2007 and regular evaluation of the Company’s business 
activities. 

The Company reached good economic results in 2007, which reflects the benefit of  
investments to the Company as well as successful integration to the MOL Group. 

The Board of Directors regularly communicated the results of the Company to the Supervisory Board 
via the Chief Executive Officer. During the year, the Supervisory Board required quarter reports  
on activities related to internal audits and activities. 

According to the Supervisory Board opinion, the Company’s operation was in compliance with  
the relevant legislation, Articles of Association and resolutions of the preceding General 
Assemblies focused on maximisation of the shareholder’s value. Based on the Supervisory  
Board assessments, the Board of Directors’ activities were performed in compliance with  
the approved Business Plan for 2007. 

The employee representatives in the Supervisory Board actively participated in its meetings  
and paid a special attention to issues affecting employees of SLOVNAFT, a.s.

The Supervisory Board verified and discussed an independent auditor’s report on the ordi-
nary standalone and consolidated financial statements for 2007, based on the International 
Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the EU, prepared according to an audit performed  
by Ernst & Young Slovakia, spol. s r.o. in compliance with the International Standards on Auditing.

According to the Supervisory Board, the ordinary standalone and consolidated financial statements  
of SLOVNAFT, a.s. express the financial situation of SLOVNAFT, a.s. as of 31 December 2007  
in all important facts as well as its financial performance and cash flows for the mentioned year.

After verification and discussion of the Board of Directors’ report on the Company’s operation in 
2007, the Supervisory Board recommends the General Assembly to approve the ordinary standalone 
and consolidated financial statements for 2007. Moreover, the Supervisory Board agrees with  
the Board of Directors’ proposal for profit distribution and the rules for distribution of dividends. 

György Mosonyi
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Bratislava, April 2008

Company 
SLOVNAFT, a.s.
is an issuer of 20,625,229 shares with the following structure:

Issue 1 – ISIN CS0009004452

Issue 2 – ISIN SK1120001369

Issue 3 – ISIN SK1120005949

• No own shares, interim certificates and ownership interests neither shares, interim certificates 
 and ownership interests of the parent company were acquired by the company as of  
 31 December 2007.

• Neither bonds nor employee shares were issued by the company as of 31 December 2007.

Type, form and version of a security: Ordinary shares – bearer dematerialised

Number of shares: 13,168,953

Nominal value of a share: SKK 1,000

Percentage share in registered capital: 63.85 %

Limited transferability of securities: none

Type, form and version of a security: Ordinary shares – bearer dematerialised

Number of shares: 3,300,000

Nominal value of a share: SKK 1,000

Percentage share in registered capital: 16.00 %

Limited transferability of securities: none

Type, form and version of a security: Ordinary shares – bearer dematerialised

Number of shares: 4,156,276

Nominal value of a share: SKK 1,000

Percentage share in registered capital: 20.15 %

Limited transferability of securities: none
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Information 
for shareholders 
Corporate address
SLOVNAFT, a.s.
Vlčie hrdlo 1
824 12 Bratislava
Slovak Republic
Tel.: + 421 2 4055 1111, 5859 1111
Fax: + 421 2 4524 3750
 

Stock Exchange trading information
Bratislava Stock Exchange, joint-stock company 
P. O. Box 151
Vysoká 17
814 99 Bratislava 1
Slovak Republic
E-mail: info@bsse.sk 

Tel.: +421 2 4923 6111 (Switchboard) 


